

# LUND UNIVERSITY

## **Regulation of Hematopoietic Stem Cells**

Rörby, Emma

2014

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Rörby, E. (2014). Regulation of Hematopoietic Stem Cells. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy]. Division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Regulation of Hematopoietic Stem Cells

Emma Rörby



# DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended in the Segerfalk lecture hall, BMC A10, Lund on the 12<sup>th</sup> of September 2014 at 13:00.

> Faculty opponent Professor Margaret A. Goodell, PhD Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA

Organization	Document name	
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
Division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy	Date of issue	
Institution of Laboratory Medicine, Lund	September 12, 2014	
Author(s) Emma Rörby	Sponsoring organization	
Title and subtitle		
REGULATION OF HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS		

#### Abstract

This thesis is about the regulation of hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) that represent rare cells residing in the bone marrow (BM) of adults. They are multipotent cells that have the capacity to differentiate to all mature cells of the blood system and have the capacity to self-renew, i.e. generate new HSCs. These cells have tremendous therapeutic potential to treat a variety of hematopoietic disorders through blood and marrow transplantation. Today, peripheral blood (PB) is the most commonly used source as HSCs can be mobilized from BM to PB. A third more convenient source for harvesting HSCs is cord blood (CB). However, the yield of HSCs in CB is too low for successful transplantation to most adult patients. Thus, ideally HSCs from CB needs to be increased in number (expanded) ex vivo before transplantation. Expansion of HSCs. Thus, deeper understanding of the regulatory mechanisms that govern HSCs fate is critical to allow expansion of HSC ex vivo and improve HSC-based therapies.

The studies presented in this thesis have identified factors involved in the regulation of HSC fate decisions. In summary, our results demonstrate that increased Smad4 expression, a key component in the transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) signaling pathway, sensitizes human CB HSPCs to TGF- $\beta$ . This leads to growth arrest and apoptosis in vitro and reduced HSPC reconstitution capacity in vivo with no effect on lineage distribution. Together, these findings demonstrate an important role for TGF- $\beta$  signaling in the regulation of human HSCs in vivo (Article I). Furthermore, with the purpose to investigate and characterize a novel regulator, we have studied the role of pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) in murine HSCs. Absence of PEDF leads to reduced HSC numbers and impaired engraftment following transplantation. Here, we report for the first time that PEDF is a critical regulatory factor for HSC function (Article II). Last, we have identified the cell surface antigen CD9 as a positive marker for HSCs that provides a simple alternative for stem cell isolation at high purity. Using CD9 as a tool we have dissected heterogeneity within the HSC pool as defined by CD9 expression (Article II).

Taken together, we have identified several molecules of human and murine HSCs that are important for stem cell function and fate outcome.

Key words: Hematopoiesis, hematopoietic stem cells, hematopoietic stem cell expansion, cord blood, transforming growth factor beta, Smad signaling, pigment epithelium derived factor, CD9

 Classification system and/or index terms (if any)

 Supplementary bibliographical information
 Language: English

 ISSN and key title 1652-8220
 ISBN 978-91-7619-031-9

 Recipient's notes
 Number of pages 87
 Price

 Security classification
 Security classification
 Security classification

Signature Imma Ling Date July 28, 2014

# Regulation of Hematopoietic Stem Cells

Emma Rörby



Copyright Emma Rörby

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2014:102 ISBN 978-91-7619-031-9 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2014









"Stupidity has a certain charm - ignorance does not." - Frank Zappa

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVATIONS	1
ARTICLES INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS	3
PREFACE	5
BACKGROUND	7
Hematopoiesis	7
Discovery of HSCs	8
Methods to study the hematopoietic system	9
Embryonic origin of hematopoiesis	11
Isolation of mouse HSCs	12
Isolation of human HSCs	13
HSCs in the clinic	14
Regulation of HSC fate	
The HSC niche	19
Intrinsic regulation	22
Epigenetic regulation	23
Extrinsic regulation	25
Molecular biology of TGF-β signaling pathway	
Ligands, receptors and the Smad signaling pathway	28
TGF-β signaling in hematopoiesis	29
Smad signaling in hematopoietic malignancies	
Pigment epithelium-derived factor	
Multiple functions of PEDF	34
PEDF in stem cell biology	37
PRESENT INVESTIGATION	39
Aim	
Summary of results	
Article I	40
Article II	41
Article III	41
Conclusions	43
GENERAL DISCUSSION	45
Identifying HSC regulators	45
Overexpression studies	45
New insight into TGF-β regulation	46
TGF- $\beta$ and HSC expansion	47

Knockout mouse models	
Heterogeneity within the HSC pool	49
Future directions	51
SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA	53
ARTICLES NOT INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS	55
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	57
REFERENCES	59
APPENDICES (ARTICLES I-III)	87

# ABBREVATIONS

BFU-E	burst forming unit-erythrocyte
BMP	bone morphogenic proteins
BMT	bone marrow transplantation
BrdU	5-bromo-2-deoxyoridine
CB	cord blood
CDKI	cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor
CFU	colony-forming unit
CFU-GEMM	$colony\-forming\ unit\-granulocyte/erythrocyte/macrophage/megakaryocyte$
CFU-GM	colony-forming unit-granulocyte/macrophage
CFU-S	colony-forming unit spleen
CLP	common lymphoid progenitor
CMP	common myeloid progenitor
CRU	competitive repopulation units
CXC12	chemokine motif ligand 12
dHSC	definitive-HSC
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ECM	extra cellular matrix
FACS	fluorescence activated cell sorting
Flt3	fms-related tyrosine kinase 3
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GM-CSF	granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor
H2B-GFP	histone 2B-green fluorescent protein
hESC	human embryonic stem cell
HLA	human leukocyte antigens
HSC	hematopoietic stem cell
Il2rg	IL-2R common γ chain
iPS-cell	induced pluripotent stem-cell
LLC	large latent complex
lncRNA	long noncoding RNA
LR	non-integrin laminin receptor
LSK	Lin <sup>-</sup> Sca <sup>+</sup> c-Kit <sup>+</sup>
LTC-IC	long-term culture initiating cell
M-CSF	macrophage colony stimulating factor
MPP	multipotent progenitor

MSC	mesenchymal stem cell
NOD	nonobese diabetic
NOG	NOD/Shi-scid/Il2rg <sup>-/-</sup>
NSG	NOD/LtSz-scid/Il2gr <sup>-/-</sup>
OB	osteoblast
OC	osteoclast
PB	peripheral blood
PEDF	pigment epithelium-derived factor
PGE2	prostaglandin E2
RPC	retinal progenitor cell
RSC	retinal stem cell
SCF	stem cell factor
SCID	severe combined immune-deficiency
SCR	scid-repopulating cell
sh-RNA	short hairpin RNA
SNS	sympathetic nerve system
TGF-β	transforming growth factor- $\beta$
ТРО	thrombopoetin
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
wt	wild type

# ARTICLES INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS

This thesis is based on the articles listed below. The articles are referred to in the text by their roman numbers (I-III).

- I. <u>Rörby E</u>, Hägerström MN, Blank U, Karlsson G, Karlsson S. *Human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells overexpressing Smad4 exhibit impaired reconstitution potential in vivo*. Blood, 2012 Nov 22;120(22):4343-51.
- II. <u>Rörby E</u>, Billing M, Dahl M, Andradottir S, Miharada K, Siva K, Blank U, Karlsson G, Karlsson S. *Pigment epithelium-derived factor regulates hematopoietic stem cell maintenance*. Manuscript 2014.
- III. Karlsson G, <u>Rörby E</u>, Pina C, Soneji S, Reckzeh K, Miharada K, Karlsson C, Guo Y, Fugazza C, Gupta R, Martens JH, Stunnenberg HG, Karlsson S, Enver T. *The tetraspanin CD9 affords high-purity capture of all murine hematopoietic stem cells*. Cell Rep. 2013 Aug 4(4):642-648.

# PREFACE

Since late 2009 I have been a PhD student in Stefan Karlsson's lab at the division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy. When I started the day of dissertation seemed so far away. However, time has moved quickly and the journey has been filled with blood (a lot of blood actually), sweet and tears. But also with pure joy! My supervisor says, "science is not only work, it is a life style" and I have enjoyed having this life style for the past years and I'm proud to introduce you to the work I have done. As Winston Churchill said however, "Now this is not the end. It is not even the beginning of the end. But it is, perhaps the end of the beginning".

This thesis is all about blood stem cells, or hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), these are rare cells that reside in the bone marrow (BM) of adults. HSCs are multipotent i.e. they have the capacity to differentiate to all the mature cells of the blood system but not to any other organ systems, they have also the capacity to self-renew i.e. make a copy of themself. Mature blood cells in our body are short-lived and without HSCs to replace them would be equal with death. The HSC was discovered about 50 years ago by Till and McCulloch, although the German scientist Ernst Haeckel used the word "stammzelle" as early as 1868 and the histologist Alexander Maximow postulated year 1909 that hematopoiesis is a cellular hierarchy derived from a common precursor (Haeckel, 1968; Maximow, 1909; Till and McCulloch, 1961). The field has evolved dramatically since Till and McCulloch reported their discovery and today HSCs are by far the most studied stem cell in our body. This is most likely because they are easy to access in the BM, but they are also connected to many blood disorders why insight to the field of hematopoiesis has great clinical relevance. However the exact mechanism governing HSC fate remain elusive. In this thesis we have investigated transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) signaling in human HSCs (Article I), we can also for the first time report the pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) is a regulator of HSC fate (Article II). Finally, this thesis also describes CD9 as a cell surface marker that captures all HSCs in murine BM and how this is a useful tool to dissect heterogeneity within the HSC pool (Article III).

> Emma Rörby Malmö, July 2014

# BACKGROUND

# Hematopoiesis

Blood and the system that forms it, the hematopoietic system, consists of many different cell types, white blood cells fight infections, red blood cells carry oxygen to the tissues and platelets help prevent bleeding (Table 1). Many blood cells are short-lived and need to be replenished continuously. In the human body the turnover of hematopoietic cells is close to 10<sup>12</sup> cells per day (Ogawa, 1993). The production of these cells relies on a rare population of multipotent hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs). These are primitive, tissue-specific somatic stem cells that can *differentiate* (start the path towards becoming a mature cell) to generate all cells of the hematopoietic system. Importantly, they can also simultaneously *self-renew* (give rise to other HSCs), a property fundamental for life since it keeps the stem cell pool intact. Self-renewal and differentiation are under strict control in the bone marrow (BM) where the process of blood cell formation occurs and is referred to as hematopoiesis. Hematopoiesis can be described as hierarchical with the rare HSCs at the apex and the large numbers of terminally differentiated mature cells at the bottom. The cells that are in between HSCs and mature cells in this hierarchical tree are referred to as progenitor cells (Figure 1).

The hematopoietic system is divided into two lineages where distinct progenitor populations, common myeloid progenitor (CMP) and common lymphoid progenitor (CLP), are believed to divide the hematopoietic hierarchy into either myeloid or lymphoid restricted potential, respectively (Akashi et al., 2000; Kondo et al., 1997). However, the exact model for HSC and lineage commitment remains debated (Adolfsson et al., 2005; Arinobu et al., 2009; Ema et al., 2014; Pronk et al., 2007; Reya et al., 2001; Yamamoto et al., 2013).

Type of cell	Main functions
White blood cells (leucocytes)	
Granulocytes	
Neutrophils	Phagocytose invading bacteria
Eosinophils	Destroy parasites and modulate allergic responses
Basophils	Release histamine
Monocytes	
Macrophages	Phagocytose invading microorganisms and cellular waste products
Lymphocytes	
B-cells	Make antigens
T-cells	Kill virus-infected cells and regulate other leucocytes
NK-cells	Kill virus-infected cells and some tumor cells
Red blood cells (erythrocytes)	Transport oxygen and carbon dioxide
Platelets (thrombocytes)	Initiate blood clotting

Table 1. Mature blood cells and their functions



**Figure 1. The hematopoietic hierarchy.** HSCs produce progenitor cells with progressively decreased multipotency and self-renewal capacity as indicated. HSC, hematopoietic stem cell; MPP, multipotent progenitor; CLP, common myeloid progenitor; GMLP, granulocyte/macrophage/lymphoid progenitors; MEP, megakaryocyte/erythroid progenitor; GMP, granulocyte/macrophage progenitor; CLP, common lymphoid progenitor.

### **Discovery of HSCs**

In 1961 two pioneers of stem cell research, James Till and Ernest McCulloch provided evidence that multipotent HSCs exist. They found that a population of clonogenic BM cells could generate colonies in the spleen, named colony-forming unit spleen (CFU-S), of lethally irradiated mice (Becker et al., 1963; Till and McCulloch, 1961). When retransplanted into secondary hosts these colonies could reconstitute multiple blood cell lineages (Siminovitch et al., 1963). These ground breaking experiments defined the properties of stem cells (i) self-renewal capacity, (ii) multi-lineage potential, and (iii) extensive proliferation ability. Only a

true stem cell can give life-long reconstitution of an irradiated animal and retroviral marking studies further proved the existence of HSCs giving important insight into the enormous potential these cells exhibit. Retroviral DNA can be integrated into the genome of a host cell and because of this, the progeny of individual cells can be tracked. Identical retroviral sites were demonstrated to be found in all lineages of the hematopoietic system of primary and secondary hosts, thus identifying a common origin and the existence of HSCs (Dick et al., 1985; Jordan and Lemischka, 1990; Keller et al., 1985; Keller and Snodgrass, 1990). However, the ultimate proof for HSCs came in 1996 when Osawa *et al.* showed that single cells were able to reconstitute an irradiated host long-term with multilineage capacity (Osawa et al., 1996)

#### Methods to study the hematopoietic system

#### In vivo assays

The main advantage (and limitation) of Till and McCulloch's classical in vivo CFU-S study was the short-term nature of the assay (typically 12 days) (Till and McCulloch, 1961). Methods that truly define HSCs are long-term reconstitution assays were mice are preconditioned by lethal irradiation making them acceptable to new HSCs after the recipient mice are injected with either a mixed population of cells containing HSCs or with purified HSCs (Domen and Weissman, 1999; Morrison et al., 1995). The injected cells (donor cells) of the new host (recipient) will migrate to the hematopoietic organs (BM, liver, spleen), a process named homing, and repopulate the hematopoietic system of the recipient. At different time point after transplantation the donor cells from the hematopoietic organs can be collected and analyzed by a method called fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS). This technique is based on the expression of proteins on the cell-surface (e.g., isoforms of the pan-hematopoietic marker CD45) that can be recognized by specific monoclonal antibodies. Using FACS, the donor cells can be separated from recipient cells and lineage markers can detect skewing in lineage commitment. Working with HSCs is difficult because they are very rare, 0.004% of the total bone marrow cellularity, which is why the development of FACS has been crucial for the field of hematopoiesis, enabling recognition and quantification of very small numbers of cells (Osawa et al., 1996).

To study long-term reconstitution mice are analyzed 12-16 weeks after transplantation, but to extend the potential of this assay serial transplantations can be performed. In this case bone marrow from the primary recipients becomes the HSC source for second irradiated recipients. If this results in en increased repopulation capacity it could be an indication of enhanced self-renewal. In contrast, decreased repopulation capacity in secondary hosts could be a result of impaired self-renewal capacity, leading to HSC loss or excessive self-renewal resulting in exhaustion. In an experimental setting to further investigate the reconstitution capacity of HSCs, they may be transplanted together with wild type (wt) HSC in an approach called *competitive bone marrow transplantation*. Moreover, a stringent method to quantify HSCs is using a *limiting-dilution assay*, where different doses of a test population are transplanted together with competitor cells (Micklem et al., 1972; Szilvassy et al., 1990). Recipients are considered positive for reconstitution if peripheral blood (PB) contains over 1% test cells in both myeloid and lymphoid lineage 12 weeks post transplantation. The number of recipients who regenerated hematopoietic tissues from the dilutions of test cells can then be used to calculate the frequency of competitive repopulating units (CRU) within the donor (based on Poisson statistics). The CRU-assay quantifies HSC numbers, however, it does not take into account homing and repopulation kinetics, which are important features for engrafting HSCs.

#### In vitro assays

There are also a number of different methods that have been developed to study HSCs *in vitro*. One of the most commonly used is colony-forming unit (CFU) assay that measures the frequency of hematopoietic progenitors, differentiation capacity and proliferative potential (Wognum and Szilvassy, 2013). In these experiments, semi-solid medium supplemented with cytokines supporting growth and differentiation of different lineages is being used. A progenitor responding to these cytokines will form a colony that is detected and analyzed. Since each progenitor is responsible for one colony, this allows for the quantification of the numbers of progenitors of the selected lineage present in a sample. The size and diversity of cell-types in the colony is a measurement of proliferation potential and primitiveness, respectively. For example, if a progenitor is restricted to the myeloid lineage, colony-forming units-granulocyte/macrophage (CFU-GM, CFU-G, CFU-M) will be formed. Current protocols also enable detection of burst/colony forming units-erythrocyte (BFU-E, CFU-E) as well as mixed colonies (CFU-GEMM) which are the largest colonies formed that originate from the most immature progenitors having multilineage potential (Wognum and Szilvassy, 2013).

One other *in vitro* assay is the long-term culture initializing cell (LTC-IC) assay allowing for the quantification of hematopoietic progenitor cells upstream of those giving rise to CFUs (Sutherland et al., 1990). Initially, test cells are seeded onto irradiated marrow feeders or a stromal cell line with HSC-supportive activity. Committed progenitors have limited proliferation capacity and will disappear during the initial 3-5 weeks of culture. In contrast, the more primitive cells present in the test cell population will maintain throughout the culture and generate new committed progenitors. At the end of the assay the remaining cells are plated in semi-solid medium to analyze their CFU capacity as discussed above. Finally, the number of primitive progenitors in the initial test population can be calculated (Liu et al., 2013). LTC-IC assays can be performed in a limiting dilution manner and can complement the CRU assays (described above). However, they do not truly reflect the *in vivo* situation and LTC-ICs are for this reason biologically distinct from cells engrafting in their natural environment in the BM.

### Embryonic origin of hematopoiesis

Adult hematopoiesis occurs in the BM microenvironment called the HSC niche, where HSCs reside and progenitor cells are continuously formed. However, this is not the location of HSCs during ontogeny. During embryogenesis the process of blood cell development takes place at many sites and is characterized by two waves (Figure 2). *Primitive hematopoiesis* generates mainly primitive erythrocytes and certain myeloid cells, and later *definitive hematopoiesis* generates definitive-HSCs (dHSCs) which give rise to all mature blood cells (Medvinsky et al., 2011). The first wave and the origin of the hematopoietic system includes a common mesodermal precursor for both hematopoietic and endothelial cells, the hemangioblast and the first hematopoietic cells are thought to appear in the extra-cellular yolk sac (Choi et al., 1998; Moore and Metcalf, 1970).



Figure 2. Hematopoietic developmental sites in the embryo. Figure modified from Dzierzak and Speck, 2008.

The second wave and the site of definitive hematopoiesis is the intra-embryonic aortagonad-mesonephros (AGM) region that has been shown to be a source of dHSC (Medvinsky and Dzierzak, 1996; Muller et al., 1994). However, the true origin of dHSC is a matter of disagreement. More recent reports have shown that the placenta contains definitive HSC activity before the onset of an established circulatory system, which suggests that this could be the site for dHSC development (Gekas et al., 2005; Rhodes et al., 2008). Upon establishment of the circulatory system the cells migrate to the fetal liver, which becomes the major site for dHSCs. Here, a robust expansion of the cells occurs, increasing the HSC reservoir (Ema and Nakauchi, 2000). Finally, HSCs migrate to the thymus and spleen and during the later stages of gestation HSCs will colonize the BM which in adults are the permanent site for hematopoiesis (Medvinsky et al., 2011).

#### **Isolation of mouse HSCs**

The flow cytometry technique has been fundamental in enabling the identification of HSCs. As mentioned earlier HSCs are very rare and FACS-based cell sorting makes it possible to isolate these cells with high purity. Monoclonal antibodies conjugated to fluorescent markers allows for the detection of antigens on the cell surface, and combination of monoclonal antibodies directed against cell surface markers expressed by HSCs must be used in order to isolate these cells. It has been well established that HSCs are negative for markers associated with mature blood cells (collectively referred to as lineage negative, Lin-) and positive for stem cells antigen (Sca)-1, which is very commonly used to enrich HSCs in the murine system (Spangrude et al., 1988). C-kit is another commonly used marker, with an important function as the receptor for stem cell factor (SCF) (Ikuta and Weissman, 1992). The combination of Lin-, Sca-1+ and c-Kit+ are referred to as LSK and mark a heterogeneous population of cells enriched in HSCs. Since only a fraction of the cells are stem cells, this population needs to be further subdivided and can be enriched by different additional marker combinations. For example, long-term (LT)-HSCs have been shown to be negative for CD34 and Flt3 (LSKCD34<sup>-</sup>Flt3<sup>-</sup>), the CD34 marker is associated with the activation state and has been shown to be reversible, since activated CD34 positive stem cells can return to a CD34 negative state after transplantation (Osawa et al., 1996; Sato et al., 1999). LT-HSCs have the capacity to sustain life-long hematopoiesis and exhibit extensive self-renewal potential, while short-term (ST)-HSCs (LSKCD34<sup>+</sup>Flt3<sup>-</sup>) have more restricted self-renewal capacity and can only contribute the hematopoietic system for a limited period of time (Yang et al., 2005). Furthermore, upregulation of Flt3 occurs in the multipotent progenitor (MPP) state and is associated with a loss of self-renewal potential (Figure 1) (Adolfsson et al., 2001). In addition, the signaling lymphocyte activating molecule (SLAM) family receptors CD150 and CD48 (LSKCD150<sup>+</sup>CD48<sup>-</sup>) can further enrich the stem cell population and a combination of CD34/Flt3 and SLAM markers is often used to purify LT-HSCs (Adolfsson et al., 2001; Kiel et

al., 2005; Yang et al., 2005). Metabolic dyes have also been used to isolate HSC, this method is based on the cells efflux activity. When Hoechst 33342 is analyzed at two-emission wavelength a distinct subset of cells termed side population (SP) is identified that are highly enriched in HSCs (Goodell et al., 1996). Regardless of which marker combination is used, heterogeneity still remains in the HSC population with respect to lineage output and repopulation capacity (Copley et al., 2012).

#### **Isolation of human HSCs**

The first marker used to enrich humans HSCs was CD34. In contrast to mouse cells the fraction of human stem cells can be found in the CD34 positive population (Civin et al., 1984). There are also other markers that lack congruence between the two species, for example human HSCs are positive for Flt3 while they do not express CD150 (Larochelle et al., 2011; Sitnicka et al., 2003). The fraction of CD34 positive cells is heterogeneous and therefore the purification of primitive human hematopoietic cells requires additional markers. Using a xenograft model, it was demonstrated that the CD90-marked cells (Thy1) together with CD34 enriched HSCs (the rare Lin<sup>-</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup>CD90<sup>+</sup> population in human fetal BM) were shown to contain pluripotent hematopoietic progenitors (Baum et al., 1992). Furthermore, exclusion of CD45RA and CD38 has been shown to purify HSCs as they are expressed on more differentiated progenitors (Bhatia et al., 1997; Lansdorp et al., 1990). Thus, the marker combination of Lin-CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>CD45RA<sup>-</sup>CD90<sup>+</sup> has been frequently used to purify HSCs over the past decade. Importantly, in a recent study Notta et al. showed that transplanted single Lin<sup>-</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>CD45RA<sup>-</sup>Thy1<sup>+</sup>Rho<sup>lo</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup> cells were highly efficient in generating longterm multilineage engraftment (Notta et al., 2011). In contrast, loss of the CD49f marker characterized transient engraftable cells capable of multilineage reconstitution, thus reflecting MPPs (Notta et al., 2011).

Interestingly, it is controversial whether all HSCs reside in the CD34 positive fraction. Although most human HSCs are associated with CD34 expression several studies have described the existence of primitive hematopoietic cells in the CD34 negative population (Anjos-Afonso et al., 2013; Bhatia et al., 1998; Goodell et al., 1997; Wang et al., 2003). In a recent study, Anjos-Afonso et al. reported Lin<sup>CD34</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>CD93<sup>hi</sup> cells to be at the apex of the human HSC hierarchy, placed above CD34<sup>+</sup> cells (Anjos-Afonso et al., 2013).

#### Xenograft models

Because HSCs are identified and studied through functional repopulation assays the majority of our understanding of hematopoiesis is based on mouse experiments. However, mouse and human differ and the direct relevance to develop therapies requires the complement of human-based studies. Xenotransplantation, i.e. transplantation from one species to another, and *in vitro* 

clonal assays have made it possible to study human HSC biology. The major problem with xenotransplantation is that transplanted cells will activate an immune response eliminating these "invading" transplanted cells. Development of immunodeficient mice was the breakthrough that made it possible to study human HSCs in vivo. The first model was the severe combined immune-deficient (Scid) mice lacking T and B cells, later crossed with the non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice (Bosma et al., 1983). NOD-Scid mice were shown to have defects in innate immunity and for that reason supported higher level of human engraftment (Shultz et al., 1995). Primitive human hematopoietic cells capable of engrafting these mice are defined as Scid-repopulating cells (SCRs) (Larochelle et al., 1996). The development of NOD-Scid mice paved the way for scientist to study human hematopoiesis in vivo. A major disadvantage with the NOD-Scid model however, is that the mice have a short lifespan, making it difficult to follow HSCs long-term. Moreover the fact that they have NK-cell activity limits the human engraftment potential. To circumvent these problems NOD-Scid mice were crossed with a mouse strain either truncated in the IL-2R common  $\gamma$  chain (Il2rg), termed NOD/Shiscid/Il2rg-/- (NOG), or with a strain that completely lacked the Il2rg, termed NOD/LtSzscid/Il2rg<sup>-/-</sup> (NSG) (Ito et al., 2002; Shultz et al., 2005), Il2rg is a critical component in the immune response and deletion of this gene leads to loss of B, T and NK-cell activity, thus supporting engraftment of human hematopoietic cells.

There have been approaches to humanize the xenograft models by introducing expression of human cytokines in the murine system when the mouse counterpart has no cross-species activity of that particular cytokine. Thrombopoetin (TPO), IL-3 and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) have been replaced by knock-in gene replacement thus mimicking human environment (Rongvaux et al., 2011; Willinger et al., 2011). However, even using humanized models one should always remember that some results might be artifacts of the surrogate xenograft model, demanding parallel studies of mouse and human cells.

#### HSCs in the clinic

HSCs have tremendous therapeutic potential and have been used clinically since 1959 to treat a variety of hematopoietic disorders e.g. leukemia and immunodeficiencies. The pioneer was E. Donnall Thomas who performed the first bone marrow transplantation (BMT) of two leukemic patients using donor BM from the patient's healthy identical twin (Thomas et al., 1959). Transplantations of BM and HSCs can be performed in different settings, autologous transplantation is when a patient's own BM tissue is re-infused, or in rare cases using identical twins' BM as donor sample (often referred to as syngeneic transplantation). Using donor BM between individuals who are not genetically identical is known as allogeneic transplantation and can result in graft-versus-host disease (GVHD). The immune system uses human leukocyte antigens (HLA) present on white blood cells, to distinguish between "self" and "non-self" and

the clinical successes of BMT did not come until the until late 1960's when the importance of HLA system was understood (Thomas, 1999).

In the beginning, transplantations were performed using BM as the sole source of HSCs. Today, PB is most commonly used as HSCs can be mobilized from BM to PB by the use of growth factors like granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) and/or the mobilizing agent AMD3100 (Korbling and Freireich, 2011; Motabi and DiPersio, 2012; To et al., 1997). A third more convenient source for harvesting HSCs discovered almost 30 years ago is cord blood (CB) (Broxmever et al., 1989). Umbilical CB that is normally discarded after delivery is a convenient source for harvesting HSCs (Sorrentino, 2004). Furthermore, cells from CB can more easily be transplanted across HLA barriers and could be stored in large banks with a spectrum of different HLA-types for medical use (Rubinstein et al., 1998). The yield of HSCs in CB however, is too low for successful transplantation to most adult patients, and thus ideally HSCs from CB needs to be increased in number (expanded) ex vivo before transplantation (Brunstein and Wagner, 2006; Doulatov et al., 2012; Sorrentino, 2004). Expansion of HSCs holds great promise, but has been met with limited success due to incomplete knowledge regarding regulation of HSC proliferation and self-renewal (Figure 3). Thus, deeper understanding of the regulatory mechanisms that govern HSC fate is fundamental to expand cell numbers ex vivo and improve HSC-based therapies (Article I-III). In addition to selfrenewal, survival of stem cells and prevention of apoptosis has also emerged as an important mechanism to maintain HSCs in vivo and ex vivo. It was recently discovered that prevention of endoplasmic reticulum stress and improved protein quality control in HSCs prevents apoptosis of HSCs (Miharada et al., 2014).

The properties of HSCs make them very suitable for gene therapy. The idea behind gene therapy is to correct monogenetic disorders using viral vectors carrying the therapeutic gene of interest to correct the defect gene. Tailored and genetically modified HSCs could theoretically lead to life-long correction and would restore normal biological function of the whole hematopoietic system (Karlsson et al., 2002). Gene therapy has been used successfully to treat hematopoietic disorders, including sever combined immune deficiency-X1 (SCID) which provided proof that this advanced therapy works in practice (Cavazzana-Calvo et al., 2000). Unfortunately, insertional mutagenesis due to integration of the therapeutic gene near protooncogenes is a serious concern that results in leukemic transformation (Hacein-Bey-Abina et al., 2003a; Hacein-Bev-Abina et al., 2003b). The risks associated with gene integration temporarily halted some gene therapy trials and raised doubts concerning the safety of genetically engineered cells. However, gene therapy of ADA-SCID has been very successful with long-term efficacy of the treatment and without any adverse effects due to insertional mutagenesis (Aiuti et al., 2009). To overcome the problems of insertional mutagenesis in the future both vector design and knowledge regarding gene therapy needs to be improved. HSC expansion would further benefit gene therapy, since increased self-renewal of HSCs would result in increased HSC yield and more efficient transduction.



**Figure 3. HSC expansion today and the challenge for future** *ex vivo* **protocols.** Bone marrow (BM), mobilized peripheral blood (mPB) and cord blood contain HSCs. Future protocols requires expansion of undifferentiated HSCs for sufficient therapy of adult patients.

### iPS cells

Hope for another advanced tailored cell therapy came in 2006 when Shinya Yamanaka and colleagues published an extraordinary paper describing induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells. Dr. Yamanaka, who was awarded with the Nobel prize in 2012, showed that ectopic co-expression of four factors (c-Myc, Klf4, Oct4 and Sox2) could reprogram mouse fibroblast into

iPS cells (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). These cells were almost indistinguishable from embryonic stem cells, multipotent stem cells able to form every type of cell in the human body apart from the placenta. One year later the same group reported the successful generation of iPS cells from human fibroblast cells (Takahashi et al., 2007). This discovery was groundbreaking and could theoretically result in a clinical scenario where a skin cell from a patient with a particular disease could be genetically modified and thereafter reprogrammed before re-infusion into the patient after gene correction, to replace the dysfunctional cells and cure the patient. A huge advantage with iPS-based technology is that the treatment would be autologous as the cells originate from the patient and would therefore not be rejected. This scenario was proven to work in the mouse system in 2007, when Hanna et al. successfully cured an animal model of sickle-cell anemia using this approach (Hanna et al., 2007). This proof of principle study showed that the cutting edge technology of iPS cells holds great clinical promise for the treatment of human diseases. However, the safety of iPS cell based therapy and realistic clinical potential have yet to be determined. (Riggs et al., 2013; Robinton and Daley, 2012; Yamanaka, 2012). Furthermore it has been challenging to generate engrafting HSCs from iPS cells, therefore plans to generate HSCs from iPS cells for blood cell therapies are not realistic unless the molecular mechanisms that control HSC generation from iPS cells can be identified and manipulated (Cherry and Daley, 2013; Wang et al., 2005).

# Regulation of HSC fate

HSCs have a number of cell fate properties, these include the possibility to *self-renew*, *differentiate*, go through *apoptosis* (programmed cell death) or *migrate* from the BM (Figure 4) (Wagers et al., 2002). The balance between these activities determines the number of stem cells present in our body and deregulation of HSC fate could easily result in malignant diseases. The process of *self-renewal* (generation of an identical copy of the cell after division) is required to prevent depletion of the HSC pool and is important both during homeostasis as well as under physiologic stress, e.g. infection and injury. Too much self-renewal can lead to improper differentiation and exhaustion of HSC, while too little self-renewal can lead to insufficient number of HSCs and eventually hematopoietic failure. Self-renewal is a unique property that can either be symmetric or asymmetric in its nature. Symmetric division results in two HSCdaughter cells, leading to subsequent expansion of HSCs and is for this reason thought to be important after transplantation. Asymmetric division results in two daughter cells with different fate; one committed cell that has started the path towards becoming a mature blood cell and one qualitative HSC keeping the HSC pool intact (Morrison and Kimble, 2006). The differentiation property of HSCs is crucial since most mature blood cells are short-lived and need to be replaced continuously. Unbalanced differentiation however, can result in myeloproliferative disease and leukemia. Furthermore, induction of apoptosis is required to balance stem cell number and is an essential trait for the prevention of cancer (Reva et al., 2001). Stem cells can also migrate, a phenomenon that is particularly important during development when HSCs seed the fetal liver, spleen and BM, as previously discussed (Medvinsky et al., 2011). The migration of HSCs is also important later in life for mobilization of HSCs from the BM to the periphery (Wright et al., 2001).

One hallmark of the hematopoietic system is the ability to respond rapidly to situations of stress, such as acute blood loss or transplantation. HSCs are under strict control in the niche and thought to be controlled by a complex system of both cell-autonomous and niche-induced signals (Enver et al., 1998; Ogawa, 1999). The *cell-autonomous or stochastic model* proposes that HSC fate has a random nature of gene expression and that external signaling, like growth factors, only mediates viability and proliferating signals (Ogawa, 1999). Opposed to this, the niche-induced or *instructive/deterministic model* suggests that HSCs can be instructed by extrinsic signals that will induce fate decisions (Morrison and Weissman, 1994). It remains debatable whether stochastic and/or deterministic events regulate HSCs. Regardless, HSCs are most likely controlled by a complex interplay between these two systems and it is important to understand the circuitry of their interaction.



Figure 4. HSC fate options.

## The HSC niche

The HSC niche is the microenvironment in the BM where HSCs reside. Schofield first proposed the term "niche" in 1978 as the location in BM that preserves the reconstituting ability of stem cells (Schofield, 1978). Since then, in order to understand more about HSCs biology, the niche has been well studied. However, like any interactive system there is a complex interplay between different cell types and factors and the understanding of the HSC niche is far from complete.

### Two niches

Two distinct anatomical niches have been proposed, the *endosteal* and the *vascular niche* (Ehninger and Trumpp, 2011; Kiel et al., 2005; Lo Celso et al., 2009; Mendez-Ferrer et al., 2010; Xie et al., 2009). In the endosteal niche osteoblasts (OBs) and bone remodeling are important components of HSC maintenance. It has been shown that the number of OBs, calcium-release (released during active bone turnover), TPO, angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1) and osteopontin (expressed by OB) are all important for HSC regulation (Adams et al., 2006; Arai

et al., 2004; Calvi et al., 2003; Nilsson et al., 2005; Yoshihara et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2003). Miharada et al. identified the developmental cue, Cripto, as a HSC regulator (Miharada et al., 2011). Cripto preserves stem cell properties *in vitro* and *in vivo* by signaling through its cell surface receptor, 78 kDa glucose regulated protein (GRP78). GRP78<sup>+</sup> HSCs that can respond to Cripto signaling are located in the endosteal region and were shown to be largely quiescent with high glycolytic activity (Miharada et al., 2011). The endosteal niche is thought to be low in oxygen level (hypoxic) and it has been suggested that an oxygen gradient exists in the BM, with HSCs residing in the most hypoxic environment (Cipolleschi et al., 1993; Parmar et al., 2007). A hypoxic niche protects HSCs from reactive oxygen species (ROS) since ROS can induce cycling, which in turn would lead to exhaustion of HSCs (Ito et al., 2006). However, this view has been challenged. In a resent study Spencer *et al.* measured oxygen levels in live animals and proposed a revised model where the oxygen concentration is highest near the endosteal region, thus leading to a reversed oxygen gradient (Spencer et al., 2014). The exact role for hypoxia in the niche remains an open question, however the oxygen level is an important feature in the regulation of HSCs.

HSCs are also associated with the vascular niche, composed of perivascular and endothelial cells (Kiel et al., 2005; Sugiyama et al., 2006). Importantly, HSCs are mobile cells that migrate from the BM to the circulation. In keeping with this, HSCs observed near vessels may not permanently reside at this location but could have been observed entering or exiting circulation. In any case, one important regulator for HSC self-renewal and maintenance is SCF expressed by the vascular niche cells, and at lower levels by the endosteal lining (Ding et al., 2012). Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are also known to express SCF as well as chemokine (C-X-C) motif ligand 12 (CXCL12 a.k.a. stroma cell derived factor-1, SDF-1), shown to be critical in mobilization of HSC (Mendez-Ferrer and Frenette, 2007; Sugiyama et al., 2006). The presence of CXCL12-abundant reticular (CAR)-cells, associated with microvasculature, has been shown to be an important component of the HSC niche (Omatsu et al., 2010). In addition, Mendez-Ferrer et al. used mice expressing GFP under the Nestin promoter to show that BM Nestin<sup>+</sup> perivascular cells, that are associated with putative HSCs, express not only SCF and CXCL12 but also Ang-1, OPN and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM1), all documented HSC maintenance factors (Mendez-Ferrer et al., 2010). Furthermore, selective depletion of Nestin<sup>+</sup> cells reduced in numbers of HSCs, providing evidence that Nestin<sup>+</sup> cells are important for HSCs maintenance (Mendez-Ferrer et al., 2010). Importantly, approaches for allowing the conditional deletion of specific cells as well as factors in the niche environment make it possible to study niche functions. One should however, keep in mind that HSCs could be directly affected and/or alternatively indirectly affected by the environmental changes in the niche caused by the deletion.

Importantly, HSCs have been shown to be regulated by adrenergic nerve fibers of the sympathetic nerve system (SNS), responsible for the circadian oscillations of circulating HSCs (Ehninger and Trumpp, 2011; Katayama et al., 2006; Mendez-Ferrer et al., 2008). Moreover,

non-myelinating Schwann cells, associated with sympathetic nerves in the BM niche, have been shown by Yamazaki et al. to activate latent forms of transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) and demonstrated to be located in close contact with HSCs (Yamazaki et al., 2011). TGF- $\beta$  is a potent inhibitor of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell proliferation and will be discussed in more detail in the next chapter.

#### Dormant HSCs

A switch from fetal to adult hematopoiesis occurs three weeks after birth when the HSCs undergo a major change from frequently cycling to a more inactive stage (Bowie et al., 2006). Adult HSCs are largely non-dividing and cell cycle analysis has revealed that most HSCs are in  $G_0$  phase of the cell cycle (Cheshier et al., 1999; Goodell et al., 1996; Wilson et al., 2008). DNA-labeling agents can be used to investigate the existence of quiescent HSCs. A commonly used labeling agent is 5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine (BrdU), an analog to thymidine that is incorporated into the DNA. In vivo studies using BrdU have challenged the existence of quiescent HSCs. It was postulated that HSCs divide regularly and that the HSC pool enters the cell cycle on average every 57 days (Cheshier et al., 1999; Kiel et al., 2007) However, two more recent studies, using transgenic mice expressing the fusion protein histone 2B-green fluorescent protein (H2B-GFP) under the control of tetracycline-responsive regulatory element, revealed that about one seventh of the studied HSC population divided as seldom as every 145 days, equivalent to five times per mouse lifetime (Wilson et al., 2008). Furthermore, this dormant population of HSCs performed better upon serial transplantation compared to more frequently dividing HSCs and is thought to represent a subpopulation of HSCs that are triggered to proliferate in response to G-CSF or injury signals (Foudi et al., 2009; Wilson et al., 2008).

The role of the two aforementioned niches is a matter of dispute. It has been suggested that the endosteal niche contains the largest amount of bona fide stem cells that are dormant while the vascular niche is housing self-renewing, actively proliferating HSCs (Ehninger and Trumpp, 2011; Wilson et al., 2007; Wilson and Trumpp, 2006). However, recent reports have implicated a role for the endosteal niche as a location for early lymphoid restricted progenitors, thus being cellularly and functionally distinct from the vascular niche where putative HSCs are suggested to be located (Ding and Morrison, 2013; Greenbaum et al., 2013; Morrison and Scadden, 2014). Kiel and colleagues showed that a low fraction of HSCs (14%) were located near the BM endosteal surface, while the majority of HSCs were found in the center part near bone-marrow sinusoids (Kiel et al., 2005). As it is a complex system of cell types and factors that regulate stem cells in the BM, it is also possible that lineage-restricted niches exist (Chow et al., 2013; Morrison and Scadden, 2014). Previous work regarding the biology of the HSC niche has answered many questions, but niche related research is rapidly progressing making it likely that additional components will be defined in the near future.



**Figure 5. Location of HSC in the endosteal and the vascular niche.** The endosteum is lined by osteoblasts (OB) and is remodeled by osteoclasts (OC). The vascular niche is composed of perivascular cells, endothelial cells and CXCL12-abundant reticular (CAR)-cells.

## **Intrinsic regulation**

The microenvironment in the BM is clearly important to regulate the fate outcome of HSCs. In addition to this, a wide variety of intrinsic factors are also responsible for HSCs regulation, including transcription factors, transcriptional repressors, cell cycle regulators and antiapoptotic signals (Domen, 2000; Ooi et al., 2010; Pietras et al., 2011; Sauvageau et al., 2004). To study the mechanisms of intrinsic factors, the approach of loss- or gain of function studies is often used. An example of this is a well-studied transcription factor, HoxB4, the overexpression of which resulted in increased HSC regeneration (Antonchuk et al., 2001, 2002; Sauvageau et al., 1995; Thorsteinsdottir et al., 1999). Surprisingly, deletion of HoxB4 using a conditional knockout mouse model only mildly effected HSC function, perhaps due to redundancy of other Hox proteins (Bjornsson et al., 2003; Brun et al., 2004). Moreover, when the epigenetic regulator Bmi-1, a member of the polycomb group of transcriptional repressors, was deleted fetal liver HSCs isolated from Bmi-1 knockout animals exhibited impaired repopulation capacity, suggesting that Bmi-1 is important for functional HSCs (Park et al., 2003). In addition, elevation of Bmi-1 levels result in enhanced HSC function, with increased self-renewal potential both in vitro and in vivo (Iwama et al., 2004). Growth factor independent-1 (Gfi-1) has also been shown to be important for HSC maintenance, loss of which leads to increase cycling, followed by a decreased capacity to reconstitute irradiated recipients (Hock et al., 2004; Zeng et al., 2004). Gfi-1 knockout-HSCs expressed lower levels of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor (CDKI) and  $G_1$  checkpoint regulator p21, which could in part explain the observed phenotype (Hock et al., 2004). CDKIs are central regulators of cell cycle and play a crucial role in HSC self-renewal. When p21 was deleted in a knockout mouse model, HSC proliferation and absolute number were increased. Serial transplantation experiments resulted in HSC exhaustion, leading to hematopoietic failure (Cheng et al., 2000). However, a more recent study demonstrated that p21 deletion in a different mouse background did not have major differences in cell cycle status or HSC number (van Os et al., 2007). These conflicting results demonstrate that the mouse background used can influence the results, which should be taken into account when drawing conclusions.

Anti-apoptotic regulators have also been linked to HSC maintenance. This has been demonstrated in studies where the expression of the apoptotic-suppressing gene Bcl-2 has been modified. HSCs with enforced Bcl-2 expression display a repopulative advantage over wt HSCs in competitive transplantations. Furthermore, they were protected from apoptotic stimuli, leading to increased an number of HSCs in the BM (Domen et al., 2000; Domen and Weissman, 2003). Recently, prevention of apoptosis through reduction in endoplasmic reticulum stress has been shown by our laboratory to improve HSC survival *in vitro* and *in vivo* and increase competitive repopulation compared to control cells after *ex vivo* culture (Miharada et al., 2014).

#### **Epigenetic regulation**

Over the past decade accumulating evidence has suggested that epigenetic mechanisms are involved in the regulation of critical biological processes. This type of gene modification, thought to be a higher level of intrinsic regulation includes DNA methylation, chromatin remodeling, covalent histone modification and non-coding RNAs. This type of regulation does not affect the DNA sequence but instead leads to modifications that change overall DNA and chromatin structure, which in turn determines the ability for transcriptions factors to get access to their target genes. Yamanaka and colleagues extraordinary work with iPS cells drew a lot of attention to the field of epigenetic regulation as iPS cell technology relies on epigenetic changes (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006; Watanabe et al., 2013). This is because reprogramming factors are thought to not only to be able to regulate genes, but also to function as chromatin organizers rearranging chromatin architecture from a somatic to a pluripotent state (Apostolou and Hochedlinger, 2013). Furthermore, epigenetic regulation has been shown to be involved in hematopoietic development and altered epigenetic modification contributes to hematological malignancies. Importantly it has been shown that epigenetic modifiers can influence the balance between the two main fate options of HSCs, –self-renewal and differentiation, and their role as key instructors of lineage choice is now emerging.

DNA methyltransferases (Dnmts) are a family of enzymes that catalyze the transfer of methyl groups to DNA, more precisely to the 5' position of cytosine followed by guanine (CpG) (Attwood et al., 2002). CpG-rich regions in the genome are referred to as CpG-islands and are found in the promoter regions of about 60% of human genes (Antequera and Bird, 1993). Unmethylated CpG-islands are characterized by an open chromatin structure which correlates with active gene expression (Esteller, 2007). In mammals Dmnt1 primarily copies the cytosine methylation patterns from a hemimethylated substrate after DNA replication thus. serves as a maintenance enzyme (Song et al., 2011). Dmnt3a and Dmnt3b serves as de novo methyltransferases as they acts on unmethylated DNA substrates (Ooi et al., 2009). Dnmtknockout mice die during early development of fetus or a few weeks after birth, while conditional deletion of Dnmt1 in the hematopoietic system results in impaired self-renewal capacity and altered differentiation of Dnmt1-null HSCs (Broske et al., 2009; Li et al., 1992; Okano et al., 1999; Trowbridge et al., 2009). Dnmt3a has also been shown to be important for HSC, with conditional knockout of Dnmt3a resulting in expansion of HSCs and impaired differentiation following transplantation (Challen et al., 2012). These results clearly show that DNA methyltransferases have different roles in HSCs and highlights their importance in HSC biology. Interestingly, genome-wide methylation mapping of hematopoietic progenitors revealed that myeloid commitment was associated with less global DNA methylation compared to lymphoid. This indicates that DNA methylation is critical for differentiation choice of myeloid versus lymphoid restriction (Ji et al., 2010).

DNA is spooled around histones in the form of an octamer that organizes DNA strands into higher orders of compaction called nucleosomes (Luger et al., 1997). Posttranscriptional modification occurs on histone proteins and two thoroughly studied modifications are *acetylation* and *methylation* of the N-terminal tail. Covalent modifications of histones, referred to as the "histone code", regulate the structure of chromatin and determine the transcriptional status for a specific genomic region (Bannister and Kouzarides, 2011). Deletion of the histone acetyltransferase (HAT) Moz leads to embryonic lethality and transplantation of fetal liver HSCs results in decreased reconstitution capacity (Katsumoto et al., 2006; Thomas et al., 2006). Furthermore, the MII methyltransferases, members of the trithorax group family that methylates histone H3K4, are associated with gene activation (Bernstein et al., 2007). Since Mll deficiency also results in embryonic lethality, Jude et al. used an inducible knockout model to demonstrate that adult HSCs deficient in Mll expression fail to reconstitute recipient mice because of defects in maintaining quiescence (Jude et al., 2007; Yu et al., 1995). Moreover, chromosomal translocations leading to a disrupted Mll gene have been observed in acute leukemias (Tkachuk et al., 1992). In murine embryonic stem cells the long noncoding RNA (lncRNA) Mistral has been shown to recruit Mll to chromatin, leading to activation of various Hox genes including Hox6 and Hox7 (Bertani et al., 2011). Non-coding RNAs are another class of epigenetic regulators, a diverse group of non-protein coding molecules that are involved in cellular processes. One example of these is microRNAs, regulating gene expression at a translational and post-transcriptional level e.g. though degradation of mRNA. There are more than 100 microRNAs expressed in the hematopoietic system, however the function of microRNAs in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells remains to be completely understood (O'Connell et al., 2010). Han et al. showed in a recent report that microRNA-29a is expressed by HSCs and elevated levels lead to increased proliferation of hematopoietic progenitors and induced myeloproliferative disease in primary chimeras (Han et al., 2010).

The mechanisms involved in epigenetic regulation have become more evident during the past decade and clearly play key roles in hematopoietic development controlling self-renewal as well as differentiation. Epigenetic marks also appear to be involved in hematopoietic disorders which is why developing techniques to manipulate the epigenetic pattern holds great promise for novel approaches in the treatment of leukemia.

#### **Extrinsic regulation**

Cytokines such as SCF and TPO are traditionally included in the culture media of HSCs. These provide survival signals, promote proliferation *in vitro* and have been shown to be important for the maintenance of quiescent HSCs *in vivo* (Borge et al., 1996; Ema et al., 2000; Keller et al., 1995; Li and Johnson, 1994; Qian et al., 2007; Sitnicka et al., 1996a; Yoshihara et al., 2007). Using knockout mouse model approaches, SCF and TPOs respective receptors c-kit and c-mpl were disrupted leading to decreased HSC numbers and defects in long-term repopulation capacity (Kimura et al., 1998; Miller et al., 1996; Murone et al., 1998). Interestingly, Kent et al. used single cell *in vitro* cultures supplemented with different concentrations of SCF to demonstrate that SCF-signaling intensity can directly alter the transcription factor profile and long-term repopulating capacity of HSCs, thus providing further evidence for extrinsic regulation of HSCs (Kent et al., 2008). According to the stochastic model, external signaling only mediates viability and proliferating signals. However, in a recent study using video imaging and single-cell gene expression analysis, Mossadegh-Keller showed that stimulation of HSCs with macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) resulted in increased number of PU.1<sup>+</sup> cells with myeloid gene signatures and differentiation potential (Mossadegh-Keller et

al., 2013). These results clearly show that cytokines not only support survival and growth, but also have the capacity to direct HSCs fate, thus challenging the stochastic model.

In addition to cytokines that support HSCs growth there are also regulators that inhibit proliferation and a balance between positive and negative regulators is thought to be important for HSCs maintenance. One well established regulator for HSC growth is TGF- $\beta$ , shown to inhibit HSC proliferation and discussed in more detail in the next chapter. Other factors inhibit hematopoietic progenitors include interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) and tumor necrosis progenitors- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) (Bryder et al., 2001; Jacobsen et al., 1992; Maciejewski et al., 1995; Zhang et al., 1995).

#### Expansion of human HSCs ex vivo

Recently, increased engraftment of human hematopoietic cells has been reported following treatment with cytokines, developmental cues and chemical compounds. However, it is still challenging to expand human HSC for use in the clinic. The Notch signaling pathway ha been demonstrated to be highly involved in HSC regulation, with treatment of primitive CB cells with Notch ligand Delta-like 1 (DLK1) improving repopulation capacity in transplantation experiments (Delaney et al., 2010; Delaney et al., 2005; Ohishi et al., 2002). Delaney et al. reported a 6-fold increase in repopulating cells and a small clinical phase I trial, where patients with acute leukemia were transplanted with DLK1-treated CB paired with unmanipulated CB, showed rapid hematopoietic engraftment. However only two out of ten patients exhibited long-term persistence from the expanded CB (Delaney et al., 2010).

Another signaling pathway also involved in controlling HSC fate is the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway. Wnt proteins are crucial for HSC homeostasis and manipulation of Wnt signaling has been shown to affect HSCs expansion, although there is discrepancy between some of the findings (Austin et al., 1997; Baba et al., 2005; Baba et al., 2006; Reya et al., 2003; Staal and Luis, 2010; Willert et al., 2003). Nevertheless, prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) can increase the number of murine HSCs by 4-fold, the effect based on the stabilization of  $\beta$ -catenin and activation of Wnt target genes suggesting cooperation between Wnt and other signaling pathways (Goessling et al., 2009; North et al., 2007). In a recent preclinical rhesus macaque model, a 1-hour PGE2 treatment of CD34<sup>+</sup> CB cells augmented HSC frequency by 2-fold (Goessling et al., 2011). Furthermore, Cutler et al. demonstrated multilineage engraftment and accelerated neutrophil recovery of dimethyl-PGE2 treated CB units in a phase I trial (Cutler et al., 2013) (CTI: NCT00890500). This clinical trial demonstrated safety for use in the clinic, but increased engraftment of dimethyl-PEG2 treated cells was not observed.

Screening approaches can be used to identify novel regulators that target yet unknown pathways. One example of this is the approach that Boitano and colleagues employed based upon the sustained expression of CD34, indicating decreased differentiation in culture, which could be used to test potential compounds that promote HSC expansion (Boitano et al., 2010). They screened a library of 100 000 compounds and identified the purine derivate

StemReginin1 (SR1) which increased the number of HSCs by17-fold, determined by limiting dilution assay in NSG mice (Boitano et al., 2010). SR1 is an antagonist of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) and in agreement with previous finding it was recently reported that deletion of AhR results in increased proliferation (Boitano et al., 2010; Singh et al., 2011). Clinical studies are currently ongoing using SR1-expanded CB cells for patients with hematological malignancies (CTI: NCT01474681).

Other compounds such as angiopoietin-like 5 (Angptl-5) and pleiotrophin have been shown to stimulate *ex vivo* expansion of HSCs (Himburg et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2008). In a recent study Chaurasia et al. demonstrated that histone deacetylase inhibitor valproic acid (VPA) increased the number of SRCs by remarkable 36-fold compared to primary CD34<sup>+</sup> cells (Chaurasia et al., 2014). The authors conclude that VPA is responsible for the epigenetic reprogramming of cultured CB cells and that added cytokines are responsible for proliferation. These results highlights the power of epigenetic regulation, however further investigation is needed to prove the safety of epigenetic reprogrammed HSCs.
## Molecular biology of TGF-β signaling pathway

#### Ligands, receptors and the Smad signaling pathway

Members of the transforming growth factor- $\beta$  superfamily, including the TGF- $\beta$ s, activins and bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), regulate different cellular processes from the very beginning of ontogeny, patterning tissues in the developing embryo, to later in life, controlling homeostasis and wound healing in the adult (Chang et al., 2002). The actions of TGF- $\beta$  ligands are highly context-dependent based on cell type and environment, and can regulate apoptosis, proliferation as well as differentiation and serve a key role in HSC biology (Blank and Karlsson, 2011; Shi and Massague, 2003; Sporn and Roberts, 1988).

TGF- $\beta$  ligands bring together serine/threenine kinase receptor I with receptor II on the cell surface, receptor II subsequently phosphorylates the kinase domain of receptor I and initiates signaling through phosphorylation of Smad proteins (Kitisin et al., 2007; Shi and Massague, 2003). TGF- $\beta$  ligands convey signals intracellularly through the Smad signaling pathway (Figure 6). The Smad proteins can be divided into three functional classes depending on their role in the pathway; the receptor activated Smads (R-Smad; Smad1, 2, 3, 5, and 8), the common-mediator Smad (Co-Smad; Smad4) and the inhibitory Smads (I-Smad; Smad6 and 7). Ligand binding followed by receptor phosphorylation activates the intracellular R-Smads, which then form a complex with Smad4. The activated complex subsequently translocates into the nucleus, where it regulates transcription of target genes. R-Smad2 and 3 operate downstream of TGF-B and activin receptors, while R-Smad1, 5 and 8 primarily act downstream of BMP receptors. The I-Smads function to inhibit Smad signaling by interacting with the Co-Smad or competing with R-Smad receptor binding. Depending on the combination of ligands and receptors that interact, different Smad proteins are activated specifying the signaling outcome (Shi and Massague, 2003). Since R-Smads and Co-Smad have rather low affinity for DNA binding, activated Smad-complexes arriving in the nucleus are associated with DNAbinding partners ensuring high-affinity binding. Furthermore, co-activators, like CBP and p300, and co-repressors, such as Ski and SnoN, can influence the outcome of Smad signaling (Massague et al., 2005; Massague and Wotton, 2000; Shi and Massague, 2003). Thus depending on Smad-complex interactions with other proteins, as well as cell type and cell status, the gene response can be of great diversity.

In a variety of cell lineages TGF- $\beta$  ligands have been shown to signal through a noncanonical pathway via TGF $\beta$ -activated kinase 1 (TAK1), a member of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathway (Yamaguchi et al., 1995). Interestingly, TAK1 is expressed by HSC (Emma Rörby, Ulrika Blank, Stefan Karlsson, unpublished observation) and has been shown to be essential for HSC survival, as TAK1 deletion resulting in BM failure due to massive apoptotic death of hematopoietic cells (Tang et al., 2008).

#### TGF-β signaling in hematopoiesis

The TGF- $\beta$  superfamily has been demonstrated to have different context dependent effects on HSCs. For example, BMP4 has been implicated as a positive regulator of proliferation and survival of human CB HSCs (Bhatia et al., 1999). Less is known about activins influence on the hematopoietic system, although Utsugisawa et al. showed that activin A has an inhibitory function on murine HSC growth *in vitro* (Utsugisawa et al., 2006). Moreover, low concentrations of TGF- $\beta$ 2 have been suggested to stimulate murine HSCs proliferation, conversely TGF- $\beta$ 1 is a well-established negative regulator of HSC growth, through effects on the cell cycle and apoptosis (Langer et al., 2004; Larsson and Karlsson, 2005).



**Figure 6. Signaling flow.** Ligand binding brings together type II receptor (1) and type I receptor (2) on the cell surface. Formation of the receptor complex (3) leads to phosphorylation of type I receptor (4). The activated type I receptor subsequently phosphorylated a receptor-regulated Smad (R-Smad) (5) following binding of Smad4 (6). This complex will enter the nucleus (7), bind to DNA-binding partners (8) and regulate transcription og target gene (9). Adapted from Ulrika Blank, with permission.

#### $TGF-\beta$

In the adult, TGF- $\beta$  has a very important function in regulating the immune system. All leukocytes produce and respond to TGF- $\beta$ , playing a pivotal role in regulating the immune response with both stimulatory and inhibitory effects (Li et al., 2006). Consistent with this, TGF- $\beta$  deficient mice develop lethal inflammatory disorders in both receptor and ligand knockout mouse models (Letterio et al., 1996; Leveen et al., 2002; Yaswen et al., 1996). When BM cells were transplanted from TGF-β1 deficient neonates, before the onset of inflammation, it resulted in impaired reconstitution activity due to defective homing (Capron et al., 2010). Yamazaki et al. generated a TGF- $\beta$  type II receptor knockout in a immune-deficient Rag deficient background, to circumvent the development of lethal inflammatory disorder, and demonstrated that HSCs had increased cycling and reduced long-term repopulation capacity (Yamazaki et al., 2011). In contrast, HSCs from a TGF- $\beta$  type I receptor knockout displayed normal regenerative functions in vivo when analyzing cell before the development of multifocal inflammatory disease, or when transplanted to immune-deficient mice (Larsson et al., 2003; Larsson et al., 2005). The discrepancies between these finding may be a result of redundant functions of other type I receptors and perhaps also other ligands. Interestingly, Iwata et al. recently reported that absence of TGF- $\beta$  type II receptor induced non-canonical TGF-β signaling activating the TAK1/p38-MAPK pathway (Iwata et al., 2012).

TGF- $\beta$  exists in three isoforms, TGF- $\beta$ 1-3, all signaling though the downstream Smad signaling pathway (Figure 7) (de Martin et al., 1987; Derynck et al., 1985; Derynck et al., 1988; Madisen et al., 1988; Piek et al., 1999; ten Dijke et al., 1988). The TGF-ßs are secreted as latent proteins named the large latent complex (LLC) at the extra cellular matrix (ECM), which contains proteases that cleave TGF- $\beta$  into its biologically active form (Annes et al., 2003; Gleizes et al., 1997). Recently, it was shown that a large proportion of dormant HSCs were in close contact to non-myelinating Schwann cells responsible for the activation of latent TGF-6 in the BM (Yamazaki et al., 2011). As previously mentioned, TGF-61, the most studied isoform, is a very potent inhibitor of murine and human HSCs and primitive progenitors (Batard et al., 2000; Fortunel et al., 2000; Garbe et al., 1997; Jacobsen et al., 1991; Sitnicka et al., 1996b). TGF- $\beta$  has been hypothesized to be a key regulatory factor of HSC quiescence and, in agreement with this, administration of TGF- $\beta$ 1 into the femoral artery of mice resulted in inhibition of hematopoietic progenitors in vivo (Goey et al., 1989). In addition, several groups have shown that neutralization of TGF- $\beta$  in vitro releases HSCs and hematopoietic progenitors from quiescence (Fortunel et al., 1998; Hatzfeld et al., 1991; Soma et al., 1996). Interestingly, accumulating evidence suggest that the adult HSC population consists of functionally distinct subsets of cells that differ in self-renewal and differentiation potential (Dykstra et al., 2007; Ema et al., 2014; Sieburg et al., 2006; Wilson et al., 2008). Consistent with this, Challen et al. reported that the response to TGF- $\beta$  is different among discrete HSC subtypes (Challen et al., 2010). Low concentrations of TGF- $\beta$  resulted in stimulation of myeloid-biased HSCs, while the opposite was observed for lymphoid-biased HSCs both in vitro and in vivo (Challen et al., 2010). In a recent study the importance of TGF- $\beta$  after myelosuppressive chemotherapy was demonstrated (Brenet et al., 2013). During *in vivo* stress, e.g. 5-FU treatment, blockade with TGF $\beta$ -neutralizing antibody resulted in prolonged cycling of hematopoietic progenitors and delayed the return to quiescence, thus increasing the hematopoietic reconstitution potential. However, blocking of TGF- $\beta$  during homeostasis did not affect cycling of progenitor cells (Brenet et al., 2013). This suggests that TGF $\beta$  is important for the induction of dormancy after activation, but may not serve as a key regulator during steady state conditions.



**Figure 7. Divergence and convergence of Smad signaling.** Commonly used alternative names include ALK2/Activin type I receptor, ALK3/BMP type IA receptor, ALK4/Activin type IB receptor, ALK5/TGF-β type I receptor, ALK6/BMP type IB receptor. Adapted from Ulrika Blank, with permission.

Mechanistically, TGF- $\beta$  induces two classes of anti-proliferative responses. The first is downregulation of the growth stimulatory protein c-Myc and the second is upregulation of CDKIs, such as p15, p21 and p27 (Dao et al., 2002; Dao et al., 1998; Ducos et al., 2000; Massague et al., 2000). C-myc represses CDKIs and most cell types down-modulate c-myc in response to TGF-B. In contrast, CDKIs act in different combinations depending on cell type, for example inhibition of primitive hematopoietic cells has been suggested to be independent of p21 and p27 (Cheng et al., 2001). Another member of the CDKI family, p57, has been shown to be crucial for TGF- $\beta$ -induced cell-cycle arrest in human hematopoietic cells (Scandura et al., 2004). Brenet et al. identified p57 as a key downstream mediator of TGF- $\beta$ signaling response, as p57-knockout hematopoietic progenitors were unable to return to a quiescent state after 5-FU treatment, similarly to what was observed when adding TGFβneutralizing antibody (Brenet et al., 2013). In line with this, Yamazaki et al. demonstrated an enrichment of p57 in primitive HSCs (LSKCD34<sup>-</sup>) in comparison to more mature LSKCD34<sup>+</sup> cells (Yamazaki et al., 2006). Furthermore, the same group showed that high level of p57 correlates with phosphorylation of Smad2 and Smad3 in freshly isolated LSKCD34, but not in LSKCD34<sup>+</sup> progenitors cells (Yamazaki et al., 2009). Interestingly, p57 and p27 were demonstrated to cooperate in order to maintain HSCs in a quiescence state and that the interaction with heat shock cognate protein 70 (Hsc70) was critically important to maintain HSC cell cycle kinetics (Matsumoto et al., 2011; Zou et al., 2011).

#### Disruption of the Smad pathway in HSCs

A recent study inhibited the entire Smad signaling pathway through the overexpression of the inhibitory Smad7 in murine HSCs by retroviral gene transfer. This resulted in increased selfrenewal of HSCs in vivo with no abnormalities in differentiation of the myeloid and lymphoid lineages (Blank et al., 2006). However, Smad7 overexpression did not result in increased selfrenewal of HSCs in vitro, indicating that the in vivo phenotype was dependent on the environment of the BM niche. In an MxCre inducible knockout model targeting Smad4, disrupting the entire Smad pathway, a loss of self-renewal was observed in murine HSCs in vivo, while in vitro studies showed that the proliferation capacity was normal (Karlsson et al., 2007). Importantly, Smad7 overexpression in Smad4 deficient HSCs demonstrated that the Smad7-induced regeneration capacity was dependent on Smad4, suggesting that the level at which the Smad pathway is disrupted is important for the effect on HSCs (Blank et al., 2006). In contrast, another Smad7 overexpression study showed that human SCID repopulating cells differentiated to myeloid progenitors at a higher frequency (Chadwick et al., 2005). It has also been reported that the transcriptional intermediary factor 1gamma (TIF1- $\gamma$ ) forms a complex with R-Smads and can direct human primitive hematopoietic cells toward erythroid differentiation (He et al., 2006).

When the Smad-mediated BMP signaling was disrupted upon knocking out Smad1 or Smad1/5, using a fetal liver-specific Cre-driver to induce deletion, hematopoiesis was normal

in transplantation experiments (Singbrant et al., 2010). Thus, these results clearly show that canonical BMP-signaling pathway is not critical for adult HSC maintenance. These different outcomes illustrate how complex the Smad signaling pathway is and it will be an important topic for future studies of HSC function (Article I).

#### Smad signaling in hematopoietic malignancies

Given the anti-proliferative effects of TGF- $\beta$  signaling it is not surprising that mutational inactivation involving TGF- $\beta$  pathway members occurs in several cancers, including pancreatic and colon cancer (Grady et al., 1999; Villanueva et al., 1998). Surprisingly, as TGF- $\beta$  has been shown to be an important regulatory factor for HSC/progenitor proliferation and differentiation, alterations in genes encoding TGF-B ligand/receptors or Smads are uncommon in leukemias and other hematological malignancies (Kim and Letterio, 2003). A few cases of mutation in SMAD4, TGF- $\beta$  type I and TGF- $\beta$  type II-receptor have been reported in acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) and T-cell lymphoma (Imai et al., 2001; Knaus et al., 1996; Molenaar et al., 1998; Schiemann et al., 1999; Scott et al., 2003; Yang et al., 2006). Oncoproteins like TAX, EVI-1 and AML1-ETO can cause suppression of Smad-dependent transcriptional response to perturb TGF- $\beta$  signaling in hematological malignancies (Jakubowiak et al., 2000; Kurokawa et al., 1998; Lee et al., 2002). Interestingly, Smad4 has been suggested to protect primitive hematologic cells from leukemia transformation (Quere et al., 2011). Specifically, Smad4 was shown to bind the oncoproteins HoxA9 and Nup98-HoxA9 and sequester them to the cytoplasm, with absence of Smad4 accelerating the progression of AML in mice (Quere et al., 2011). The fact that TGF- $\beta$ -signaling-deficient mouse models studied in our laboratory do not develop of hematopoietic malignancies suggests that loss of TGF- $\beta$  signaling is more important for progression rather than initiation of leukemogenesis (Blank et al., 2006; Karlsson et al., 2007; Larsson et al., 2005; Singbrant et al., 2010). In agreement with this, Wolfraim et al. found that SMAD3 protein could not be detected in fresh samples from T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), although SMAD3 mRNA was present and no mutations in the SMAD3 gene were observed, importantly SMAD3-deficient mice require loss of p27 to initiate leukemia (Wolfraim et al., 2004).

In addition, TGF- $\beta$  can paradoxically promote cancer, particularly in the later stage of disease. This is due to the effects on the microenvironment, impairing cytolytic T-lymphocyte activity, enhancing angiogenesis and rendering patient/animals with a reduced ability to reject tumor cells, due to the balance has tipping in the favor of pro-oncogenic activities of TGF- $\beta$  (Hollsberg et al., 1994; Kim et al., 1991). Numerous of studies have described TGF- $\beta$  inhibition as connected to leukemogenesis, but also the development of TGF- $\beta$  resistance seems to be an important mechanism for oncogenic activity which further demonstrates the complexity of TGF- $\beta$ /Smad signaling and its dual role in disease progression.

### Pigment epithelium-derived factor

Pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF; encoded by SERPINF1) is a 50 kDa secreted glycoprotein belonging to the superfamily of Serpins (serine protease inhibitors) but without inhibitory function (Becerra et al., 1995). PEDF research began in the 1990s, the protein was first purified from the conditioned media of human retinal pigment epithelial cells, hence its name (Steele et al., 1993; Tombran-Tink et al., 2005; Tombran-Tink and Johnson, 1989). Later the PEDF protein was discovered to have inhibitory functions in physiological and pathological angiogenesis, as Dawson and colleagues demonstrated that PEDF is among the most potent natural inhibitors of angiogenesis (Dawson et al., 1999).

#### **Multiple functions of PEDF**

PEDF is widely expressed throughout the body and has been detected in a broad range of tissues including eye, liver, brain, plasma, bone, heart and lung (Alberdi et al., 1998; Bilak et al., 1999; Ouan et al., 2005; Sawant et al., 2004; Tombran-Tink and Johnson, 1989; Uehara et al., 2004). It is a multifunctional protein involved in several biological activities, the protein having been shown to be anti-angiogenic, anti-tumorgenic, anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective (Table 2) (Abe et al., 2004; Bilak et al., 1999; Cao et al., 1999; Dawson et al., 1999; Garcia et al., 2004a; Zhang et al., 2006). The anti-angiogenic signal induced by PEDF involves activating Fas-Fas ligand (Fas-L) and results in apoptosis of endothelial cells (Volpert et al., 2002). In addition, p38 MAP kinase has also been demonstrated to be a key mediator of the apoptotic effects induced by PEDF and human umbilical vein endothelial cells have been shown to induce PEDF mediated-apoptosis through induction of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor y (PPARy) and p53 (Chen et al., 2006; Ho et al., 2007). One key factor that stimulates angiogenesis is the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and PEDF have been described to inhibit VEGF. An example of this is the overexpression of PEDF reducing VEGF levels in the eve, prevented ocular neovascularization (Haurigot et al., 2012; Park et al., 2011). These findings are important as neovascularization in the eye can cause blindness and, for this reason, PEDF is a potential therapeutic agent against vessel growth induced blindness. Furthermore, PEDF has also been shown to regulate VEGF in other tissues, for example exogenous PEDF was shown to downregulate VEGF expression in an osteosarcoma cell line, both at mRNA and protein levels (Takenaka et al., 2005). Moreover, Grippo and co-workers reported inverse levels of PEDF vs. VEGF in human pancreatic cancer (Grippo et al., 2012). Cai et al., demonstrated two mechanisms by which PEDF inhibits VEGF, first by enhancing  $\gamma$ secretase-cleavage, resulting in cleavage of VEGF receptor 1 (VEGFR1), and second by inhibiting the phosphorylation of VEGFR1 (Cai et al., 2006a).

PEDF is suggested to be an important player in various cancers and decreased PEDF expression has been linked to increased metastasis and poor prognosis in pancreatic cancer, prostate cancer, breast cancer, melanomas, osteosarcomas and neuroblastomas among others (Cai et al., 2006b; Crawford et al., 2001; Doll et al., 2003; Garcia et al., 2004b; Halin et al., 2004; Takenaka et al., 2005; Uehara et al., 2004). Because of PEDFs anti-angiogenic properties it has the potential to be used as an anti-cancer peptide (Becerra and Notario, 2013). Importantly, PEDF has also been described as acting directly on tumor cells inducing apoptosis in various cancer cell types including; osteosarcoma cells, melanoma cells and prostatic xenograft induced cancer cells (Takenaka et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2007). Mechanistically, PEDF upregulates PPARy in prostate cancer cells leading to the suppression of nuclear factor- $\kappa B$  (NF- $\kappa B$ )-mediated transcriptional activation and reduced production of interleukin 8 (IL-8), followed by limited proliferation of cancer cells (Hirsch et al., 2011). Given the negative effects of PEDF on tumor cell function it is not surprising that expression of PEDF is downregulated during tumor progression. This has created an interest in PEDF as a therapeutic agent against cancer and future studies will likely focus on defining the mechanisms that are involved in PEDF regulation.

PEDF action	Target cell	References
Anti-angiogenic	Ocular endothelial and tumor endothelial cells	Becerra and Notario, 2013 Dawson et al., 1999 Haurigot et al., 2012 Park et al., 2011
Induces apoptosis	Endothelial cells and tumor cells	Chen et al., 2006 Ho et al., 2007 Takenaka et al., 2005 Volpet et al., 2002 Zhang et al., 2007
Anti-inflammatory	Retina	Zhang et al., 2006
Neuroprotective	Cerebellar granule cells, hippocampal neurons and spinal cord motor neurons	Bilak et al., 1999 Coster et al., 1999 Taniwaki et al., 1997
Self-renewal factor	Neural stem cells, retinal stem cells and human embryonic stem cells	Andreu-Agullo et al., 2009 Anisimov et al., 2010 De Marzo et al., 2010 Gonzalez et al., 2010

#### Tabel 2. Biological responses to PEDF

In addition, PEDF also has neuroprotective properties in several parts of the nervous system. In cerebellar granule cells (CGCs), the neuroprotective functions of PEDF are dependent on activation and translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B to the nucleus (Yabe et al., 2001). Nanogram amounts of PEDF have been demonstrated to provide protection of glutamate toxicity of several cells including CGCs, hippocampal neurons and spinal cord motor neurons (Bilak et al., 1999; DeCoster et al., 1999; Taniwaki et al., 1997). In a model system of light-dependent degeneration of rat photoreceptor cells intravitreal injections of PEDF resulted in neuroprotection (Cao et al., 2001). Since neurodegeneration is a common result of neovascular disease the neuroprotective properties adds to the value of PEDF as a therapeutic factor.

In summary, PEDF initiate both cell survival and cell death depending on which signaling cascade and cell type that is affected. While this seems contradictory, it emphasizes the potential dual activity of this protein.

#### PEDF receptors

Mapping for binding sites of PEDF to ECM components demonstrated a cluster of acidic amino acids involved in collagen binding and a cluster of basic amino acids necessary for heparin binding (Simonovic et al., 2001; Yasui et al., 2003). The biological activities of PEDF are thought to depend on its interactions with cell-surface receptors. The first receptor identified for PEDF was the protein encoded by patatin-like phospholipase domain containing protein (PNPLA2) on retinal epithelial and hepatocyte cells (Chung et al., 2008; Notari et al., 2006). This receptor has been shown to bind PEDF with high affinity and is for that reason called the PEDF receptor (PEDFR). Filleur et al. demonstrated that two epitopes of PEDF, the 34 mer and 44 mer peptides, were able to bind to the cell surface of endothelial and prostate cancer cells (Filleur et al., 2005). These peptides did not compete with each other for receptor binding, indicating binding to two distinct receptors. Indeed, it was later shown that several receptors bind PEDF, including non-integrin laminin receptor (LR), F1ATPase and lowdensity lipoprotein receptor related protein 6 (LRP6) (Bernard et al., 2009; Macaulay et al., 2013; Notari et al., 2010). A recent study, where short hairpin (sh)-RNA was directed towards either PEDFR or LR in cultured human melanoma cells, demonstrated that LR, but not PEDFR, is responsible for the PEDF mediated anti-inflammatory and anti-thrombogenic effects in these cells (Matsui et al., 2014). Ongoing studies will further clarify the details of PEDF receptor interactions and signaling cascade. Importantly, PEDF is generally regarded as a secreted protein but several immunohistochemical studies have reported significant quantities of PEDF in the nucleus of different cell types including retinal pigment epithelial cells (RPE). Y-79 retinoblastoma cells, NA neuroblastoma cells and hepatocarcinoma HepG2 cells (Karakousis et al., 2001; Sawant et al., 2004; Tombran-Tink et al., 1995). Furthermore, in a recent study PEDF was shown to bind importin-b family member transportin-SR2, associated with active nuclear transport (Anguissola et al., 2011). In the nucleus PEDF could perform specific functions regulation of cell cycle for example. This was described in human fibroblast

where PEDF has been associated with a  $G_0$  growth arrest (Pignolo et al., 2003). It is likely that PEDF can act in both a cell-autonomous fashion as well as a secreted autocrine/paracrine fashion.

#### PEDF in stem cell biology

#### Human embryonic stem cells

Accumulating evidence demonstrates a role for PEDF in a variety of stem cells. Mainly, PEDF has been shown to support stem cell survival and maintaining multipotency. An example of this is that PEDF is highly expressed in fibroblasts that serve as feeder cells for human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) (Anisimov et al., 2011). Generally feeder cells lose their supportive capacity following long-term culture in vitro, using microarray analysis Anisimov and colleagues demonstrated that foreskin fibroblast cells (hFFs) have high expression level of PEDF during early passages and lose expression in intermediate and late passages. Based on these findings PEDF is thought to play an important role in the support of hESC growth. Additionally, in a recent study PEDF was established to support self-renewal of hESC (Gonzalez et al., 2010). Gonzalez et al. reported that PEDF promotes long-term growth of pluripotent hESC without bFGF or TGF $\beta$ /Activin/Nodal ligand supplementation, and that the effect seen was due to activation of ERK1/2 signaling. Moreover, knockdown of PEDFR in hESCs using sh-RNA triggered the loss of Oct4 expression and resulted in cellular differentiation (Gonzalez et al., 2010). However, contradictory result were reported by Kanemure et al. who recently showed that PEDF secreted from primary or iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelium dramatically inhibits the growth of iPSCs and induces apoptotic cell death (Kanemura et al., 2013).

#### Retinal stem cells

Studies have shown that polarized retinal pigment epithelium derived from hESC secrete high levels of PEDF, supporting retinal progenitor cell (RPC) survival (Zhu et al., 2011). Upon addition of a neutralizing PEDF antibody to the culture media the increase in RPC proliferation and survival was diminished. A recent study reported that PEDF increased growth of retinal stem cells (RSCs) isolated from adult mouse eyes. When RSCs were culture in media supplemented with PEDF together with fibroblast growth factor (FGF) the yield of RSCs was enhanced and BrdU-incorporation increased, indicating that PEDF can increase growth of RSCs (De Marzo et al., 2010).

The limbus is anatomically located between the cornea and the conjunctiva on the ocular surface. Limbal epithelial stem cells (LSCs) are a special cell population that is enriched in the basal layer of limbal epithelium and proliferation of LSC has recently been shown to be enhanced by PEDF treatment *in vitro* (Ho et al., 2013). In addition, ointment supplemented

with PEDF was shown to accelerate the corneal wound healing process of mouse eyes (Ho et al., 2013).

#### Neural stem cells

PEDF is produced in the subventricular zone (SVZ) of mouse brain and Ramirez-Castillejo et al. demonstrated in 2006 that PEDF promotes self-renewal of neural stem cells (NSCs) in vitro (Ramirez-Castillejo et al., 2006). When PEDF was infused into the lateral ventricle of adult mice it stimulated expansion of the stem cell niche and PEDF-infused mice formed more secondary neurospheres indicating that PEDF increased the number of self-renewing NSCs also in vivo. The self-renewal effects seen after PEDF treatment were restricted to the Nterminal half of PEDF and resulted in increased expression of the Notch effector Hes1 (Ramirez-Castillejo et al., 2006). In addition, PEDF can modulate the balance between symmetric and asymmetric divisions in NSCs, via effects on Notch transcriptional activity (Andreu-Agullo et al., 2009). Activation of Notch receptors results in a movement of intracellular domain of Notch (NICD) to the nucleus, where it binds the repressor C promotersbinding factor 1 (CBF1) to initiate the transcription of genes e.g. Hes1. N-CoR is a corepressor that binds CBF1 and it was postulated that CBF1 binding sites in *Hes1* and *Egfr* promoters are occupied by N-CoR, thus leading to repressed activation of these genes. Furthermore, Andreu-Agullo found that in the presence of PEDF and activation of a noncanonical NF-kB pathway, the N-CoR moves away from CBF1 binding sites, allowing NICD/CBF1-dependent transcription of Hes1 and Egfr (Andreu-Agullo et al., 2009).

#### Mesenchymal stem cells

MSCs have the capacity to differentiate into mesodermal tissues including bone, cartilage and adipose (Si et al., 2011). Interestingly, PEDF is among the proteins that have been identified in MSC-conditioned media (Sarojini et al., 2008). It has been shown by immunofluoresent staining that PEDF is present at high levels in the rough endoplasmic reticulum/golgi areas in MSCs, indicating that the protein is destined for secretion (Sarojini et al., 2008). PEDF has recently been demonstrated, using sh-RNA or PEDF knockout animals in both human and mouse MSC, to direct MSC fate outcome inhibiting adipogenesis while promoting osteogenesis (Gattu et al., 2013). Interestingly, PEDF delays cellular senescence of human MSCs *in vitro*, this finding was associated with decreased p53 expression and reduced oxidative stress (Cao et al., 2013).

## PRESENT INVESTIGATION

### Aim

HSCs are by far the most studied stem cell in our body, but one of the remaining fundamental questions of stem cell biology is how self-renewal is regulated. To date, many factors have been found to expand stem cells. However, extensive *in vitro* amplification of HSCs without loss of their repopulation potential has not yet been achieved in a clinical setting. To be able to control cell fate in future *in vitro* protocols it is critical to understand how HSCs are regulated in their natural environment.

The studies presented in this thesis have identified factors involved in the regulation of HSC fate decisions. More precisely we aimed at delineating the role of TGF- $\beta$  and Smad signaling in human hematopoiesis and HSC function by studying Smad4 overexpression in hematopoietic cells from CB. Furthermore, with the purpose to investigate and characterize a novel regulator we have studied the role of PEDF in murine HSCs. Lastly, we identified CD9 as a cell surface marker that captures all HSCs in murine BM and described how this is a useful tool to study the HSC molecular signature.

### Summary of results

#### Article I

Here, we asked whether enforced expression of Smad4 could reveal a role for TGF- $\beta$  in human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell (HSPC) regulation in vivo or affect self-renewal and regenerative ability of HSCs in vitro. To elucidate the effect of Smad4 overexpression in hematopoiesis, full-length complementary (cDNA) of human Smad4 was cloned into a lentiviral vector carrying a GFP reporter gene, referred to as the Smad4 vector. As a control, a lentiviral vector carrying GFP alone was generated. Human CB HSPCs overexpressing Smad4 displayed increased sensitivity to TGF- $\beta$  in colony assays and importantly, the addition of a TGF-B inhibitor targeting ALK4, 5 and 7 receptors (SB431542) rescued the colony forming capacity demonstrating the functional overactivity of the TGF-B pathway in Smad4 overexpressing cells. Since TGF- $\beta$  is a well-known growth inhibitor of hematopoietic progenitors we further analyzed the cell cycle status of transduced cells (Batard et al., 2000; Jacobsen et al., 1995; Sitnicka et al., 1996b). Cells with enforced expression of Smad4 and increased TGF- $\beta$  sensitivity were to a larger extent in the quiescent state of the cell cycle (G<sub>0</sub>) compared to control cells when cultured for six days, but could be released from  $G_0$  when treated with SB431542. Moreover, as TGF- $\beta$  is also known to induce apoptosis we further investigated if enforced expression of Smad4 would affect apoptosis of cultured CB cells. After six days of culture Smad4 overexpressing cells had significantly higher AnnexinV binding compared to control cells, an effect that also was decreased when adding SB431542 to the culture. Furthermore, we transplanted transduced CB cells into NOD.Cg-Prkdc<sup>scid</sup> Il2rg<sup>tm1Wjl</sup>/SzJ mice. Interestingly, despite having a similar transduction efficiency as the empty vector control ( $27 \pm 8.35\%$  vs.  $27 \pm 7.32\%$  for Smad4 vector and control vector, respectively), CD34<sup>+</sup> CB hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells (HSPCs) transduced with the Smad4 vector had impaired engraftment as measured by FACS analysis of bone marrow six months post transplantation (Smad4 vector 1.5  $\pm 0.88\%$  GFP vs. control vector 5.60  $\pm 1.54\%$  P=.0029). Expression of lineage surface markers (CD13, CD15 and CD19) in PB three months post transplantation was unaltered.

In summary, our results demonstrate that increased Smad4 expression sensitizes human CB HSPCs to TGF- $\beta$ . This leads to growth arrest and apoptosis *in vitro* and reduced HSPC reconstitution capacity *in vivo*, with no effect on lineage distribution. Together, these findings demonstrate an important role for TGF- $\beta$  signaling in the regulation of human HSCs in vivo.

#### Article II

PEDF was one of 62 genes identified by gene expression profile analysis as deregulated when multipotent, self-renewing hematopoietic cell line entered differentiation (Bruno et al., 2004). We analyzed expression of PEDF in primary cells by real time–PCR. In agreement with the previously published cell line data we found that PEDF is highly expressed in primary long-term-HSCs. Therefore, we decided to characterize a knockout mouse model for PEDF to investigate the role of PEDF in hematopoiesis and HSC function.

Interestingly, we could show that PB from these mice had reduced white blood cell (WBC) counts and BM cells had impaired capacity to form secondary myeloid colonies in methylcellulose culture. However, immunophenotypic HSCs and primitive progenitors in BM were similar to those in wt controls and competitive repopulation (CRU) assays resulted in similar frequency of HSC in BM. Interestingly, in competitive transplantation experiments PEDF-/- BM cells reconstituted the HSC population to a lesser degree than WT controls (LSKCD150+CD48- per femur of primary transplanted recipients:  $0.0044\% \pm 0.0012$  vs.  $0.0011\% \pm 0.0003$  for PEDF+/+ and PEDF-/-, respectively P=0.0088). This was accompanied with impaired repopulative capacity (engrafted donor cells in bone marrow of tertiary transplanted mice:  $38\% \pm 5.9$  vs.  $12\% \pm 5.1$  for PEDF+/+ and PEDF-/-, respectively P=0.0031). PEDF deficient cells also exhibited altered lineage distribution with impaired myeloid contribution. We are currently performing gene expression assays to obtain an insight into the changes that occur to the transcriptome in the absence of PEDF.

Taken together, we report that PEDF is a critical regulatory factor for HSC function. Our results strengthen the accumulating evidence of PEDF as an important regulator in several stem cell systems.

#### Article III

The ability to isolate progenitors and stem cells of the hematopoietic system to high purity is required for analysis of the hierarchical organization and to characterize the transcriptional programs regulating these cells. To date, the most commonly used methods for purification of HSCs involve flow cytometry techniques using combinations of antibodies directed against LSK further subdivided by either Flt3 and CD34 (LSKFlt3<sup>-</sup>CD34<sup>-</sup>) or SLAM markers (LSKCD48<sup>-</sup>CD150<sup>+</sup>) (Adolfsson et al., 2001; Adolfsson et al., 2005; Kiel et al., 2005; Osawa et al., 1996; Yang et al., 2005). Alternative strategies based on metabolic dyes have also been used to isolate HSCs and are based on the cells efflux activity (Goodell et al., 1996). Regardless of purification strategy, considerable heterogeneity remains in the stem cell compartment and the presence of contaminating cells within the putative HSC fraction hinder direct analysis of HSCs.

The tetraspanin CD9 was identified by gene expression analysis of hematopoietic cell lines to be deregulated when primitive cells entered differentiation (Bruno et al., 2004). Here we identified CD9 as a novel positive marker for murine HSCs. More specifically, CD9 enriches for long-term reconstituting cells in previously immunophenotypically-defined BM subpopulations demonstrated to contain LT-HSCs. CD9 also identifies rare long-term reconstituting cells in cell fractions isolated on the basis of having short-term reconstitution activity and could replace a number of currently used markers thereby simplifying isolation of HSCs. We used CD9 as a tool to separate contaminating non-reconstituting cells from HSCs and combined global RNA-seq and single cell gene expression analyses to study the HSC molecular signature. However, even after depletion of contaminating cells our results show that there is still considerable transcriptional noise and fate priming within the functionally largely homogenous population of LT-HSCs (Figure 8).

To summarize, we have identified the cell surface antigen CD9 as a positive marker for HSCs that provides a simple alternative for stem cell isolation at high purity. Using CD9 as a tool we have dissected heterogeneity within the HSC pool as defined by CD9 expression.



Figure 8. CD9 captures all HSCs in murine BM. CD9 is a useful tool for HSC isolation that dissect molecular heterogeneity within the  $CD9^+$  HSC pool (red cells). Adapted from Christine Karlsson, with permission (Karlsson et al., 2013).

#### Conclusions

- HSPC cells from cord blood become oversensitive to TGF-β upon Smad4 overexpression (Article I).
- Increased TGF-β sensitivity results in growth arrest and increased apoptosis of human HSPC *in vitro* (Article I).
- Smad4 overexpression leads to reduced HSPC reconstitution capacity *in vivo* with no effect on lineage distribution (Article I).
- PEDF is a regulator of hematopoiesis (Article II).
- Absence of PEDF leads to reduced HSC numbers and impaired engraftment following transplantation (Article II).
- Our results suggest that loss of PEDF is not critical during homeostasis but important during hematopoietic regeneration. (Article II).
- CD9 is a novel positive marker for murine HSCs and enriches for long-term reconstituting cells (Article III).
- CD9 provides a simple tool for stem cell isolation that allows for analysis of molecular heterogeneity within the HSC pool (Article III).

## GENERAL DISCUSSION

### Identifying HSC regulators

It will be fundamental to develop methods for CB HSC expansion, making potential donor samples available to a larger number of patients and for advanced stem cell therapy to reach its full capacity. Therefore, continued investigation to gain deeper understanding of how HSCs are regulated and the identification of factors that are important for HSC fate decisions are imperative for HSC research. Relevant to this work has been the concept of HSC expansion and the use of *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays including genetically modified animal models to study HSCs biology that will be discussed in detail below.

#### **Overexpression studies**

Overexpression of genes using lentiviral vectors is a valuable method for studying gene function in the hematopoietic system. This approach enables stable integration of a gene into the genome of a stem cell, which leads to expression of the inserted gene in all progeny and the entire hematopoietic system. Furthermore, high transduction efficiencies can be achieved in slow cycling human hematopoietic cells, which preferably can be transplanted to xenograft mouse models to study repopulation capacity and lineage commitment over time. This approach makes it possible to study human cells in an *in vivo* setting, leading to increased knowledge of human HSC biology. However, overexpressing studies using viral vectors comes with some disadvantages. For example, high non-physiological levels of a protein could be related to unspecific effects. Such effects are not necessarily related to normal function of the protein and are for that reason not reflecting normal HSC regulation. Using strong transgene promoters in lentiviral constructs, such as spleen focus-forming virus (SFFV)-promoter, can lead to massive increase of the product from the transgene. In the case of overexpressing Smad4, the expression of Smad4 mRNA was approximately 5-fold and elevated levels of Smad4 increased sensitivity to TGF- $\beta$  followed by effects on cell cycle and apoptosis, wellestablished TGF- $\beta$  effects, which clearly shows that our observations are of physiological relevance (Article I) (Batard et al., 2000; Cashman et al., 1990; Jacobsen et al., 1995; Sitnicka et al., 1996b). Since the TGF- $\beta$  type I receptor inhibitor could rescue the effects caused by the elevated Smad4 level it further shows that the overexpression per se does not cause toxicity. Furthermore, insertional mutagenesis is a serious concern when introducing genetic material via integrating viral vectors. This is because integration of the transgene near proto-oncogenes can result in leukemic transformation (Woods et al., 2003). Although, we had high transduction efficiency in the Smad4 overexpression study, which would correspond to multiple copy numbers per GFP-positive cell, we did not observe any lineage skewing that would indicate leukemic transformation. Another concern is the time of culture before evaluating the cells, preferably the cells are prestimulated for 24h followed by transduction (incubation with the virus for 24-48h). During this time primitive stem cells start to proliferate and potentially also differentiate, which leaves us with less stem cell-material to investigate. However, as we analyzed the mice 25 weeks after transplantation we clearly manage to transduce and transplant HSCs capable of long-term engraftment in NSG mice.

Taken together, in the human setting viral transfer for studying both robust silencing and increased transgene expression using shRNA and overexpression studies, respectively, are critical for exploring human HSCs biology *in vivo*. An additional approach is to study hematopoietic cells from patients with genetic disease or leukemia to identify the molecular pathways that create the disease phenotype.

#### New insight into TGF-β regulation

Blank et al., published the Smad7 overexpression study where the entire TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathway was inhibited leading to increase HSC repopulation capacity (Blank et al., 2006). It is intriguing and important to speculate about the cause of this phenotype. Interestingly, this model leaves Smad4 to interact with non-canonical Smad pathways and importantly the phenotype seen was dependent on Smad4 expression. The Smad members have been demonstrated to interact with signaling molecules involved in both the Wnt and Notch pathway (Itoh et al., 2004; Labbe et al., 2000; Nishita et al., 2000). Thus, we hypothesized that overexpression of Smad4 might be able to mimic the phenotype seen in the Smad7 overexpression study and addressed this question in the human system. However, when we overexpressed Smad4 using lentiviral vectors in primitive cord blood cells we found that increased Smad4 levels made HSCs more sensitive to TGF-β which kept them in a low cycling state and induced apoptosis. Our result, together with previously published data from the Smad4 knockout mouse model, clearly shows that Smad4 protein levels can modulate the response to TGF-B (Article I) (Karlsson et al., 2007). This does not necessarily mean that Smad4 cannot be involved in non-canonical pathways, but it shows that Smad4 levels regulate the response to canonical TGF- $\beta$  signaling. Interestingly, accumulating evidence demonstrate that miRNA regulates hematopoietic cells by targeting the TGF-ß pathway, which provides new insight into the regulation of TGF- $\beta$  signaling (Bhagat et al., 2013; Emmrich et al., 2014; Hager et al., 2011). The TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathway is of great biological relevance for HSC regulation and regardless of the precise molecular mechanisms it is clear that the level of Smad signaling correlates with the sensitivity to TGF-B, which affects HSPC maintenance and survival (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Model for the regulation of repopulative capacity by the experssion level of Smad4. The pricise level of Smad4 can modulate the sensitivity to TGF- $\beta$  and affect repopulative capacity of HSPC *in vivo*. Smad4-deficient cells have decreased repopulation capacity and are insensitive to TGF- $\beta$ . Overexpression of Smad4 leads to increased sensitivity to TGF- $\beta$ , which translates into reduced repopulative capacity.

#### TGF-β and HSC expansion

Clinical experience has shown that the number of transplanted stem cells is related to patient survival as well as time required for engraftment (Barker, 2007; Brunstein et al., 2010; Wagner et al., 2002). Thus expansion of HSCs and progenitor cells ex vivo is expected to be highly beneficial and of great clinical relevance. The promising potential of finding factors to enhance HSC self-renewal is the primary goal for advanced stem cell therapy. However, extreme expansion of HSC number is not needed, even modest expansion of HSCs would improve the number of potential donors. Furthermore, to shorten the time to neutrophil recovery (TNR), important for post-transplant survival, is equally important (Brunstein and Wagner, 2006). Since the balance between self-renewal, differentiation, growth arrest and apoptosis determines the fate outcome of a cell it is critical to find the right equilibrium. Therefore, to identifying negative regulators might be important to gain ideal culture conditions. For example, Csaszar et al. expanded HSCs based on the fed-batch culture strategy, a system that limits the endogenously produced inhibitory feedback signals produced in HSCs culture media (Csaszar et al., 2012). Moreover, they demonstrated that the inhibitory effect during early cord blood cultures primarily was driven by TGF- $\beta$  secretion. Thus, it seems reasonable to argue that negative factors play an important role in HSC regulation ex vivo. In contrast however, it was shown that TGF- $\beta$  is secreted from murine HSCs in a latent form and that HSCs themselves cannot activate latent TGF- $\beta$  (Yamazaki et al., 2009). This might be a result of discrepancies between species since our results imply that the level of Smad4 is important for modulating the response to autocrine and/or paracrine TGF- $\beta$  produced in serum-free human cell cultures. Importantly, addition of the TGF- $\beta$  type I receptor inhibitor reversed this effect (Article I). Indeed, it has been shown in earlier studies that TGF- $\beta$  has an autocrine/paracrine effect in cultures, as addition of anti-TGF- $\beta$ 1 under serum-free culture conditions augmented proliferation of CD34+CD38–Lin– cells (Akel et al., 2003; Fan et al., 2002). Therefore, transient blocking of TGF- $\beta$  signaling might be a tool for *ex vivo* expansion protocols that aim to increase HSC numbers. Given the functional heterogeneity within the HSCs and progenitors compartment, future expansion protocols will probably not contain one universal factor but ideally a combination of factors that enhance stem cell and progenitor numbers. Importantly, the challenge to generate fully functional HSCs *ex vivo* for future clinical goals remains.

#### **Knockout mouse models**

The mouse is a powerful model system for studying HSC biology. The most accurate assay for studying HSC function is *in vivo* transplantation into lethally irradiated recipients. Using this approach the true potential of a stem cell can be measured. For example, HSC reconstitution capacity and contribution to mature lineages can be analyzed in congenic mouse strains. Increased repopulation capacity could be an indication of enhanced self-renewal. While, decreased repopulation capacity in secondary hosts could be a result of impaired self-renewal capacity leading to HSC loss or excessive self-renewal resulting in exhaustion. It is very important to keep in mind that genetic background and homing potential can influence the results. Knockout models is probably the most stringent method to studying gene function in murine HSCs without adding additional parameters to the system like transduction and prestimulation discussed above. There are two approaches; *conventional knockouts* i.e. deletion of a genetic region where the targeted gene is functionally eliminated, or *conditional knockouts* i.e. temporal and tissue-specific gene deletion with controlled inactivation of the target gene. The conditional model is a powerful tool since the gene deletion is controlled, this can circumvent embryonic lethality caused by gene deletion during development. Frequently used conditional knockouts are depended on activation of Cre-recombinase to induce gene loss (Sauer, 1998). One criticism raised is the potential effect on HSCs from triggering interferon production, often used to induce gene deletion is Mx-Cre systems, as well as spontaneous deletion (Baldridge et al., 2010; de Bruin et al., 2013). Another disadvantage related to both types of knockout models is their time consuming feature coupled to high cost.

Several lines of evidence suggest that PEDF is an important regulatory factor for multiple stem cells (Andreu-Agullo et al., 2009; Anisimov et al., 2011; De Marzo et al., 2010; Gonzalez et al., 2010). Here, we analyzed expression of PEDF by real time–PCR and in agreement with the previously published cell line data found that PEDF is highly expressed in primary LT-HSCs (Bruno et al., 2004). The fact that PEDF is highly expressed in primitive cells and a secreted factor made PEDF a suitable gene for further investigations. We used a conventional model for PEDF knockout that was viable, thus indicating that PEDF is not crucial during development. In Article II we show that loss of PEDF in adult BM cells leads to decreased HSC frequency in competitive transplantations followed by impaired repopulative capacity

(Article II). On one hand, this could theoretically mean that loss of PEDF in the HSCs impair their repopulation capacity. On the other hand, systemic PEDF deletion might affect the niche that HSCs originate from and for that reason could be the cause of impaired HSC functions. As discussed previously, PEDF is expressed in most body tissues and many type of cells have been shown to express and secrete PEDF including osteoblast, mesenchymal cells and Schwann cells (Chiellini et al., 2008; Crawford et al., 2001; Quan et al., 2005; Sarojini et al., 2008). However, wild type cells transplanted into a PEDF deficient marrow have normal engraftment indicating that PEDF work in a cell-autonomously fashion. It would be interesting to transplant these wild type cells once again into a normal (wild type) niche in order to investigate if the exposure to the PEDF-/- environment had an impact on long-term regeneration capacity. Importantly, bone morphology of PEDF deficient mice did not show any apparent alteration in bone tissues (Emma Rörby, Mats Ehinger and Stefan Karlsson, unpublished observation). Interestingly, PEDF is generally regarded as a secreted protein but several immunohistochemical studies have reported significant quantities of PEDF in the nucleus of different cell types including retinal pigment epithelial cells (RPE), Y-79 retinoblastoma cells, NA neuroblastoma cells and hepatocarcinoma HepG2 cells (Karakousis et al., 2001; Sawant et al., 2004; Tombran-Tink et al., 1995). In a recent study PEDF was shown to bind importin-b family member transportin-SR2, which is associated with active nuclear transport (Anguissola et al., 2011). These findings suggest that PEDF might not only work as a secreted factor but could also have cell-intrinsic gene regulatory functions. Future experiments will aim to elucidate the mechanism involved in the discovered HSCs phenotype.

#### Heterogeneity within the HSC pool

Even if HSCs are the most characterized stem cells, their prospective isolation is an ongoing process of refinement. We have identified CD9 as a novel positive marker that captures all HSCs in murine BM. CD9 distinguishes long-term repopulation cells from ST-HSCs by immunophenotypic markers for LSKFlt3CD34, as well as LSKSLAM staining (Adolfsson et al., 2005; Kiel et al., 2005; Osawa et al., 1996; Yang et al., 2005). Furthermore, CD9 enables high purity cell isolation with reduced number of detector channels needed (Article III). Separating long-term repopulating cells from contaminating cells is important when investigating transcriptional signatures as was demonstrated with our single cell gene expression analysis. With the depletion of more committed progenitors from long-term stem cells using CD9 we could investigate the transcriptional program of primary HSCs. However, although homogeneity of the LSKCD48<sup>-</sup>CD150<sup>+</sup>CD34<sup>-</sup>CD9<sup>high</sup> population was seen on a functional level, heterogeneity was observed at the molecular level. This could be due to transcriptional noise but could also be of biological relevance. For example, the heterogeneity seen in the CD9<sup>high</sup> population might not be related to additional HSC cell-surface markers for

increased purity, but could theoretically be a readout of the potentially different niches that the cells originate from in the marrow. The lack of methodology combining localization of HSCs with functional assays makes it difficult to assess where in the BM HSCs predominantly reside.

Difficulties in defining *ex vivo* conditions for HSC expansion are partly due to insufficient understanding of the molecular mechanisms controlling HSC fate. To understand the interaction networks and key molecules important for HSCs regulation might be the way to improve expansion. Nevertheless, future single cell analysis requires high stem cell purity to study molecular heterogeneity and lineage commitment that are critical for normal and malignant hematopoiesis.

### Future directions

TGF- $\beta$  ligands and the downstream Smad signaling pathway serve a key role in HSC biology and manipulations of this pathway at various levels have revealed important functions for HSC maintenance. In the future, more detailed mechanistic studies of human HSC are required to define if blockage of TGF- $\beta$ /Smad signaling can contribute to faster regeneration following transplantation and how reduced TGF- $\beta$  signaling can be exploited for expansion of HSCs in advanced cell therapy.

It is clear that PEDF is a critical regulatory factor for HSC function and our in vivo results suggest that PEDF works in an autocrine fashion. Importantly, since PEDF is a secreted factor we aim to investigate if recombinant PEDF can influence murine and/or human HSC growth in vitro. Furthermore, it is our goal to elucidate the mechanism involved in PEDF's regulation of HSCs. With this intention, ongoing research in our lab aims to analyze the gene expression profile of HSCs from 5-FU treated PEDF deficient mice to get an insight to the changes that occur to the transcriptome in the absence of PEDF under stress conditions. In addition, if recombinant PEDF has an effect on HSC growth in culture, PEDF treated cells will be obvious targets for gene expression analysis. Interestingly, as discussed above PEDF has been implicated in regulating p38/MAPK signaling, VEGF expression and Notch/Hes1 signaling, pathways known to be important for HSC survival and maintenance (Baudet et al., 2012; Gerber et al., 2002; Ito et al., 2006; Stier et al., 2002). Microarray technology could identify differentially expressed genes and unveil signaling pathway/s involved in the phenotype observed in HSCs. To my knowledge deregulated PEDF is not frequently seen in diseases relevant to the hematologic system, suggesting that PEDF is not involved in leukemogenesis. However, deeper understanding of PEDF signaling interactions could reveal findings important also for leukemic transformation. Based on the assays performed in Article II, steady state mice have a normal phenotype except for decreased WBC and colony forming capacity. Thus, these results strengthen the idea that loss of PEDF is not crucial under homeostasis but important during regeneration. Importantly, it cannot be excluded that the impaired engraftment capacity observed when transplanting PEDF deficient cells could be due to homing defects. In this respect it would be important to investigate whether the homing capacity is impaired in PEDF knockout cells. Worth mentioning is also that PEDF knockout mice are on a mixed background and therefore we have performed all experiments using littermate controls to eliminate possible differences due to genetic background alterations. In addition, we are now performing transplantation experiments with PEDF knockout animals backcrossed for >10 generations to confirm our findings.

We investigated PEDFR expression and found that PEDFR is expressed by ten percent of HSCs in the BM and it will be interesting to study if this receptor is responsible for PEDF signaling transduction of HSC. The literature describes additional receptors for PEDF, including LR and LRP6 receptor, and we aim to investigate if any of these receptors are

expressed on HSCs (Bernard et al., 2009; Macaulay et al., 2013; Notari et al., 2010). As a first step, cells will be sorted based on the above-mentioned receptor types and the response to PEDF will be determined in *in vitro* culture.

Another focus for future investigation would be CD9 biology and a more careful assessment of the signaling mechanism downstream of the receptor. Since CD9 distinguish long-term repopulation cells and the mRNA expression profile of CD9 is very distinct in the LT-HSC compared to more mature cells such project would hold promise to uncover signaling mechanisms important for HSC function.

## SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA

Det finns celler i vår kropp som har ett livslångt ansvar att tillverka alla blodceller. De kallas blodstamceller, eller hematopoetiska stamceller, och är en till antalet liten population celler som har den enorma kapaciteten att göra  $10^{12}$  blodceller om dagen under hela vårt liv. Blodstamceller har multipotentiell differentieringsförmåga dvs. de kan bilda alla mogna blodceller från röda blodkroppar som transporterar syre, vita blodkroppar som ingår i immunförsvaret till blodplättar som stoppar blödning. Men de kan förutom att göra alla celler i blodet också göra kopior av sig själva, s.k. självförnyelse, där stamcellens egenskaper bibehålls i minst en dottercell efter celldelning. Denna unika förmåga gör att dessa celler kan användas i kliniskt syfte t.ex. vid benmärgstransplantation för att behandla blodsjukdomar som leukemi. Blodstamceller finns i benmärgen men också i navelsträngsblod varifrån de kan renas fram och användas för att transplantera patienter. Navelsträngsblod, som i vanliga fall är en restprodukt från födseln, är en lättåtkomlig källa för att skörda blodstamceller som sedan kan lagras i blodbanker. Navelsträngsblod innehåller dock inte något stort antal blodstamceller och de skulle därför behöva expanderas (öka i antal) utanför kroppen för att möjliggöra transplantation av vuxna patienter. Men idag saknas tillfredställande kunskap om hur cellerna regleras vilket har lett till att försök att expandera blodstamceller har rönt liten framgång. Denna avhandling syftar till att få utökad kunskap om blodstamceller och framförallt hur dessa celler är reglerade och vad som kan påverka deras tillväxt.

Det är ett komplext system av olika faktorer och molekylära mekanismer som påverkar cellerna i benmärgen. Det kan vara både cellkomponenter i cellerna själva och faktorer utanför cellerna i den omkringliggande miljön som reglerar dem. Transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) är en känd extern faktor som påverkar tillväxten. TGF- $\beta$  i sin tur aktiverar en signalväg inuti cellerna, kallad Smad. I tidigare studier där man i möss hämmat denna signalväg har det visat sig att blodstamcellernas tillväxt påverkas. Det är idag okänt vilken roll Smad-signalering spelar i humana stamceller i en transplantationskontext. Därför har vi studerat Smad-signaleringen i humana celler, för att försöka förstå hur den påverkar cellerna. Genom att, med virus, överföra en viktig komponent i Smad-signaleringen kallad Smad4 har vi studerat effekten av ökad Smad-signalering i humana blodstamceller från navelsträngsblod. Med ökat uttryck av Smad4 har vi lyckats skapa celler som är överkänsliga mot TGF- $\beta$ . För att studera hur detta påverkar cellernas förmåga att nybilda det hematopoetiska systemet, transplanterades cellerna till möss. Resultaten visar att en ökad känslighet för TGF- $\beta$  försämrar förmågan hos stamcellerna att nybilda sig själva. Därför har denna studie bidragit till ökad förståelse för hur humana blodstamceller från navelsträngsblod är reglerade (Arbete I).

Vi har även försökt hitta, för det hematopoietiska systemet, nya faktorer som påverkar och reglerar blodstamcellerna genom att studera en musmodell som saknar uttryck av en viss gen, Pigment epithelium derived factor (PEDF). Denna faktor har visat sig vara viktig för andra stamcellstyper t.ex. embryonala och neuralastamceller och nu har vi upptäckt att blodstamceller som saknar denna gen har försämrad förmåga att återbilda blodsystemet. Dessa resultat visar att PEDF är nödvändig även för blodstamcellernas funktion och nu försöker vi komma fram till varför PEDF verkar vara så viktig och framför allt hur det påverkar stamcellerna (Arbete II).

Slutligen har vi också upptäckt att cellytemarkören CD9 uttrycks av stamcellerna. Blodstamceller kan studeras och sorteras ut med hjälp av avancerad teknik som baserar sig på cellytemarkörer. Ju renare stamcellspopulationen kan bli desto lättare kan vi studera funktioner och mekanismer som är unika för just blodstamcellerna. Detta projekt har inte endast bidragit till att en renare population av blodstamceller kan studeras vilket är av oerhörd vikt i jakten på ökad kunskap om dessa celler, utan också påvisat en molekylär heterogenitet inom stemcellspopulationen (Arbete III).

Sammanfattningsvis har vår forskning ökat förståelsen för hur blodstamceller är reglerade vilket har lett till ytterligare insikt i stamcellsbiologin, denna kunskap kan komma att bli viktig för effektivare behandling av blodsjukdomar i framtiden.

# ARTICLES NOT INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS

Miharada K, Karlsson G, Rehn M, <u>Rörby E</u>, Siva K, Cammenga J and Karlsson S. *Cripto regulates hematopoietic stem cells as a hypoxic niche related factor through cell surface receptor GRP78*. Cell Stem Cell, 2011 Oct 4;9(4):330-44.

Miharada K, Karlsson G, Rehn M, <u>Rörby E</u>, Siva K, Cammenga J, Karlsson S. *Hematopoietic stem cells are regulated by Cripto, as an intermediary of HIF-1a in the hypoxic bone marrow niche.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2012 Aug;1266:55-62. Review

Siva K, Jaako P, Miharada K, <u>Rörby E</u>, Ehinger M, Karlsson G, Karlsson S. *SPARC is dispensable for murine hematopoiesis, despite its suspected pathophysiological role in 5q-myelodysplastic syndrome*. Leukemia. 2012 Nov;26(11):2416-9.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to give my sincere gratitude to all the people who have contributed to the work included in this thesis in one way or another, especially the people listed below, without whom this work would not have been possible:

My supervisor, *Stefan Karlsson*, for constant guidance, enthusiastic scientific support and for creating an excellent and nurturing scientific environment. I am proud to have been a member of your lab. Special thanks for your hospitality, organizing festivities at your house several times a year.

My co-supervisor, *Göran Karlsson*, for teaching me the most important facts about hockey, life and science (in that order). I really appreciate your tremendous help, critical mind, and scientific brilliance. Have you ever been to Nairobi, I have heard they have great meetings there?

To my brilliant colleagues I share an office with, *Ulrika Blank*, for the vital contribution to all my projects and for always answering my questions. Thanks also for sharing art ideas, strange words and silver drinks. *Matilda Billing*, my daughter (!), for your endless help and advice. It is exiting to travel with you... Thanks for a lot of great times over the years. *Maria Dahl*, my partner in crime, for support and advice on various matters and work out company during these years. Your laugh is contagious, high five!

*Alex "Eward" Doyle,* my personal trainer, English teacher and friend, thanks for always giving me a hard time. Good effort! Special thanks for proof-reading my thesis. *Silja Andradottir,* for technical support throughout these years, I would like to come and visit you in Iceland some day. To the former Cammenga group members *Kristian Reckzeh* and *Matilda Rhen,* for scientific help, work out company and for the best after work evenings. *Kenichi Miharada* for being so helpful and still getting so much done. To the former gym crew *Jens Forsberg* and *Maria Kraft,* I miss your company! *Sarah Warsi* and *Sara Sjögren,* for support and friendship, special thanks to Sarah for helping me organizing my PhD-party. *Karin Olsson* and *Ineke de Jong* for organizing the lab and for helping me find my way in the storage room.

All members and friends at *Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy*, past and present, for invaluable advice and discussions. You have all together contributed to a great environment both inside and outside the lab, thanks for memorable times.

*Zhi Ma* at the Cell Sorting Facility, for superb technical help and assistance. *Marianne Rissler* and *Beata Lindqvist* for production of virus and the staff in the animal facility for excellent animal care.

Thanks to all the cord blood donors and the personnel at the Department of Obstetrics in Lund.

To friends and relatives for prayers and support.

To my dear friends, *Lisa, Sofia, Sanaz, Anna,* and *Hedvig,* for great times and support, I am happy to share the ups and downs with you.

My family-in-law for always being there for me and showing an interest in what I do. You are very generous and I truly feel like a family member.

I love spending time with my nieces *Disa, Astrid, Ester* and nephew *Gustav,* and with your parents, you give me happiness and joy! You are so cool, thanks for being who you are.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents, *Mona* and *Åke*, for encouraging me, believing in me and for giving me support far beyond the years of my PhD.

Special love and gratitude to my best friend and partner in life *Petter* and our beautiful son *Folke*. Without you this thesis would never exist, I love you with all my heart.

## REFERENCES

Abe, R., Shimizu, T., Yamagishi, S., Shibaki, A., Amano, S., Inagaki, Y., Watanabe, H., Sugawara, H., Nakamura, H., Takeuchi, M., *et al.* (2004). Overexpression of pigment epithelium-derived factor decreases angiogenesis and inhibits the growth of human malignant melanoma cells in vivo. Am J Pathol *164*, 1225-1232.

Adams, G.B., Chabner, K.T., Alley, I.R., Olson, D.P., Szczepiorkowski, Z.M., Poznansky, M.C., Kos, C.H., Pollak, M.R., Brown, E.M., and Scadden, D.T. (2006). Stem cell engraftment at the endosteal niche is specified by the calcium-sensing receptor. Nature *439*, 599-603.

Adolfsson, J., Borge, O.J., Bryder, D., Theilgaard-Monch, K., Astrand-Grundstrom, I., Sitnicka, E., Sasaki, Y., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2001). Upregulation of Flt3 expression within the bone marrow Lin(-)Sca1(+)c-kit(+) stem cell compartment is accompanied by loss of selfrenewal capacity. Immunity *15*, 659-669.

Adolfsson, J., Mansson, R., Buza-Vidas, N., Hultquist, A., Liuba, K., Jensen, C.T., Bryder, D., Yang, L., Borge, O.J., Thoren, L.A., *et al.* (2005). Identification of Flt3+ lympho-myeloid stem cells lacking erythro-megakaryocytic potential a revised road map for adult blood lineage commitment. Cell *121*, 295-306.

Aiuti, A., Cattaneo, F., Galimberti, S., Benninghoff, U., Cassani, B., Callegaro, L., Scaramuzza, S., Andolfi, G., Mirolo, M., Brigida, I., *et al.* (2009). Gene therapy for immunodeficiency due to adenosine deaminase deficiency. N Engl J Med *360*, 447-458.

Akashi, K., Traver, D., Miyamoto, T., and Weissman, I.L. (2000). A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. Nature *404*, 193-197.

Akel, S., Petrow-Sadowski, C., Laughlin, M.J., and Ruscetti, F.W. (2003). Neutralization of autocrine transforming growth factor-beta in human cord blood CD34(+)CD38(-)Lin(-) cells promotes stem-cell-factor-mediated erythropoietin-independent early erythroid progenitor development and reduces terminal differentiation. Stem Cells 21, 557-567.

Alberdi, E., Hyde, C.C., and Becerra, S.P. (1998). Pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) binds to glycosaminoglycans: analysis of the binding site. Biochemistry *37*, 10643-10652.

Andreu-Agullo, C., Morante-Redolat, J.M., Delgado, A.C., and Farinas, I. (2009). Vascular niche factor PEDF modulates Notch-dependent stemness in the adult subependymal zone. Nat Neurosci *12*, 1514-1523.

Anguissola, S., McCormack, W.J., Morrin, M.A., Higgins, W.J., Fox, D.M., and Worrall, D.M. (2011). Pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) interacts with transportin SR2, and active nuclear import is facilitated by a novel nuclear localization motif. PLoS One *6*, e26234.

Anisimov, S.V., Christophersen, N.S., Correia, A.S., Hall, V.J., Sandelin, I., Li, J.Y., and Brundin, P. (2011). Identification of molecules derived from human fibroblast feeder cells that

support the proliferation of human embryonic stem cells. Cellular & molecular biology letters *16*, 79-88.

Anjos-Afonso, F., Currie, E., Palmer, H.G., Foster, K.E., Taussig, D.C., and Bonnet, D. (2013). CD34(-) cells at the apex of the human hematopoietic stem cell hierarchy have distinctive cellular and molecular signatures. Cell stem cell *13*, 161-174.

Annes, J.P., Munger, J.S., and Rifkin, D.B. (2003). Making sense of latent TGFbeta activation. J Cell Sci 116, 217-224.

Antequera, F., and Bird, A. (1993). Number of CpG islands and genes in human and mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *90*, 11995-11999.

Antonchuk, J., Sauvageau, G., and Humphries, R.K. (2001). HOXB4 overexpression mediates very rapid stem cell regeneration and competitive hematopoietic repopulation. Experimental hematology *29*, 1125-1134.

Antonchuk, J., Sauvageau, G., and Humphries, R.K. (2002). HOXB4-induced expansion of adult hematopoietic stem cells ex vivo. Cell *109*, 39-45.

Apostolou, E., and Hochedlinger, K. (2013). Chromatin dynamics during cellular reprogramming. Nature *502*, 462-471.

Arai, F., Hirao, A., Ohmura, M., Sato, H., Matsuoka, S., Takubo, K., Ito, K., Koh, G.Y., and Suda, T. (2004). Tie2/angiopoietin-1 signaling regulates hematopoietic stem cell quiescence in the bone marrow niche. Cell *118*, 149-161.

Arinobu, Y., Iwasaki, H., and Akashi, K. (2009). Origin of basophils and mast cells. Allergology international : official journal of the Japanese Society of Allergology 58, 21-28.

Attwood, J.T., Yung, R.L., and Richardson, B.C. (2002). DNA methylation and the regulation of gene transcription. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS *59*, 241-257.

Austin, T.W., Solar, G.P., Ziegler, F.C., Liem, L., and Matthews, W. (1997). A role for the Wnt gene family in hematopoiesis: expansion of multilineage progenitor cells. Blood *89*, 3624-3635.

Baba, Y., Garrett, K.P., and Kincade, P.W. (2005). Constitutively active beta-catenin confers multilineage differentiation potential on lymphoid and myeloid progenitors. Immunity *23*, 599-609.

Baba, Y., Yokota, T., Spits, H., Garrett, K.P., Hayashi, S., and Kincade, P.W. (2006). Constitutively active beta-catenin promotes expansion of multipotent hematopoietic progenitors in culture. J Immunol *177*, 2294-2303.

Baldridge, M.T., King, K.Y., Boles, N.C., Weksberg, D.C., and Goodell, M.A. (2010). Quiescent haematopoietic stem cells are activated by IFN-gamma in response to chronic infection. Nature *465*, 793-797.

Bannister, A.J., and Kouzarides, T. (2011). Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. Cell research *21*, 381-395.

Barker, J.N. (2007). Umbilical Cord Blood (UCB) transplantation: an alternative to the use of unrelated volunteer donors? Hematology / the Education Program of the American Society of Hematology American Society of Hematology Education Program, 55-61.

Batard, P., Monier, M.N., Fortunel, N., Ducos, K., Sansilvestri-Morel, P., Phan, T., Hatzfeld, A., and Hatzfeld, J.A. (2000). TGF-(beta)1 maintains hematopoietic immaturity by a reversible negative control of cell cycle and induces CD34 antigen up-modulation. J Cell Sci *113 (Pt 3)*, 383-390.

Baudet, A., Karlsson, C., Safaee Talkhoncheh, M., Galeev, R., Magnusson, M., and Larsson, J. (2012). RNAi screen identifies MAPK14 as a druggable suppressor of human hematopoietic stem cell expansion. Blood *119*, 6255-6258.

Baum, C.M., Weissman, I.L., Tsukamoto, A.S., Buckle, A.M., and Peault, B. (1992). Isolation of a candidate human hematopoietic stem-cell population. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *89*, 2804-2808.

Becerra, S.P., and Notario, V. (2013). The effects of PEDF on cancer biology: mechanisms of action and therapeutic potential. Nature reviews Cancer 13, 258-271.

Becerra, S.P., Sagasti, A., Spinella, P., and Notario, V. (1995). Pigment epithelium-derived factor behaves like a noninhibitory serpin. Neurotrophic activity does not require the serpin reactive loop. J Biol Chem *270*, 25992-25999.

Becker, A.J., Mc, C.E., and Till, J.E. (1963). Cytological demonstration of the clonal nature of spleen colonies derived from transplanted mouse marrow cells. Nature *197*, 452-454.

Bernard, A., Gao-Li, J., Franco, C.A., Bouceba, T., Huet, A., and Li, Z. (2009). Laminin receptor involvement in the anti-angiogenic activity of pigment epithelium-derived factor. J Biol Chem 284, 10480-10490.

Bernstein, B.E., Meissner, A., and Lander, E.S. (2007). The mammalian epigenome. Cell 128, 669-681.

Bertani, S., Sauer, S., Bolotin, E., and Sauer, F. (2011). The noncoding RNA Mistral activates Hoxa6 and Hoxa7 expression and stem cell differentiation by recruiting MLL1 to chromatin. Molecular cell *43*, 1040-1046.

Bhagat, T.D., Zhou, L., Sokol, L., Kessel, R., Caceres, G., Gundabolu, K., Tamari, R., Gordon, S., Mantzaris, I., Jodlowski, T., *et al.* (2013). miR-21 mediates hematopoietic suppression in MDS by activating TGF-beta signaling. Blood *121*, 2875-2881.

Bhatia, M., Bonnet, D., Murdoch, B., Gan, O.I., and Dick, J.E. (1998). A newly discovered class of human hematopoietic cells with SCID-repopulating activity. Nature medicine *4*, 1038-1045.

Bhatia, M., Bonnet, D., Wu, D., Murdoch, B., Wrana, J., Gallacher, L., and Dick, J.E. (1999). Bone morphogenetic proteins regulate the developmental program of human hematopoietic stem cells. The Journal of experimental medicine *189*, 1139-1148. Bhatia, M., Wang, J.C., Kapp, U., Bonnet, D., and Dick, J.E. (1997). Purification of primitive human hematopoietic cells capable of repopulating immune-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *94*, 5320-5325.

Bilak, M.M., Corse, A.M., Bilak, S.R., Lehar, M., Tombran-Tink, J., and Kuncl, R.W. (1999). Pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) protects motor neurons from chronic glutamatemediated neurodegeneration. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol *58*, 719-728.

Bjornsson, J.M., Larsson, N., Brun, A.C., Magnusson, M., Andersson, E., Lundstrom, P., Larsson, J., Repetowska, E., Ehinger, M., Humphries, R.K., *et al.* (2003). Reduced proliferative capacity of hematopoietic stem cells deficient in Hoxb3 and Hoxb4. Mol Cell Biol *23*, 3872-3883.

Blank, U., Karlsson, G., Moody, J.L., Utsugisawa, T., Magnusson, M., Singbrant, S., Larsson, J., and Karlsson, S. (2006). Smad7 promotes self-renewal of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *108*, 4246-4254.

Blank, U., and Karlsson, S. (2011). The role of Smad signaling in hematopoiesis and translational hematology. Leukemia 25, 1379-1388.

Boitano, A.E., Wang, J., Romeo, R., Bouchez, L.C., Parker, A.E., Sutton, S.E., Walker, J.R., Flaveny, C.A., Perdew, G.H., Denison, M.S., *et al.* (2010). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor antagonists promote the expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells. Science *329*, 1345-1348.

Borge, O.J., Ramsfjell, V., Veiby, O.P., Murphy, M.J., Jr., Lok, S., and Jacobsen, S.E. (1996). Thrombopoietin, but not erythropoietin promotes viability and inhibits apoptosis of multipotent murine hematopoietic progenitor cells in vitro. Blood *88*, 2859-2870.

Bosma, G.C., Custer, R.P., and Bosma, M.J. (1983). A severe combined immunodeficiency mutation in the mouse. Nature *301*, 527-530.

Bowie, M.B., McKnight, K.D., Kent, D.G., McCaffrey, L., Hoodless, P.A., and Eaves, C.J. (2006). Hematopoietic stem cells proliferate until after birth and show a reversible phase-specific engraftment defect. The Journal of clinical investigation *116*, 2808-2816.

Brenet, F., Kermani, P., Spektor, R., Rafii, S., and Scandura, J.M. (2013). TGFbeta restores hematopoietic homeostasis after myelosuppressive chemotherapy. J Exp Med *210*, 623-639.

Broske, A.M., Vockentanz, L., Kharazi, S., Huska, M.R., Mancini, E., Scheller, M., Kuhl, C., Enns, A., Prinz, M., Jaenisch, R., *et al.* (2009). DNA methylation protects hematopoietic stem cell multipotency from myeloerythroid restriction. Nature genetics *41*, 1207-1215.

Broxmeyer, H.E., Douglas, G.W., Hangoc, G., Cooper, S., Bard, J., English, D., Arny, M., Thomas, L., and Boyse, E.A. (1989). Human umbilical cord blood as a potential source of transplantable hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *86*, 3828-3832.

Brun, A.C., Bjornsson, J.M., Magnusson, M., Larsson, N., Leveen, P., Ehinger, M., Nilsson, E., and Karlsson, S. (2004). Hoxb4-deficient mice undergo normal hematopoietic development but exhibit a mild proliferation defect in hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *103*, 4126-4133.

Bruno, L., Hoffmann, R., McBlane, F., Brown, J., Gupta, R., Joshi, C., Pearson, S., Seidl, T., Heyworth, C., and Enver, T. (2004). Molecular signatures of self-renewal, differentiation, and

lineage choice in multipotential hemopoietic progenitor cells in vitro. Mol Cell Biol 24, 741-756.

Brunstein, C.G., Gutman, J.A., Weisdorf, D.J., Woolfrey, A.E., Defor, T.E., Gooley, T.A., Verneris, M.R., Appelbaum, F.R., Wagner, J.E., and Delaney, C. (2010). Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation for hematologic malignancy: relative risks and benefits of double umbilical cord blood. Blood *116*, 4693-4699.

Brunstein, C.G., and Wagner, J.E. (2006). Cord blood transplantation for adults. Vox sanguinis *91*, 195-205.

Bryder, D., Ramsfjell, V., Dybedal, I., Theilgaard-Monch, K., Hogerkorp, C.M., Adolfsson, J., Borge, O.J., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2001). Self-renewal of multipotent long-term repopulating hematopoietic stem cells is negatively regulated by Fas and tumor necrosis factor receptor activation. J Exp Med *194*, 941-952.

Cai, J., Jiang, W.G., Grant, M.B., and Boulton, M. (2006a). Pigment epithelium-derived factor inhibits angiogenesis via regulated intracellular proteolysis of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1. J Biol Chem *281*, 3604-3613.

Cai, J., Parr, C., Watkins, G., Jiang, W.G., and Boulton, M. (2006b). Decreased pigment epithelium-derived factor expression in human breast cancer progression. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research *12*, 3510-3517.

Calvi, L.M., Adams, G.B., Weibrecht, K.W., Weber, J.M., Olson, D.P., Knight, M.C., Martin, R.P., Schipani, E., Divieti, P., Bringhurst, F.R., *et al.* (2003). Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche. Nature *425*, 841-846.

Cao, W., Tombran-Tink, J., Chen, W., Mrazek, D., Elias, R., and McGinnis, J.F. (1999). Pigment epithelium-derived factor protects cultured retinal neurons against hydrogen peroxideinduced cell death. J Neurosci Res *57*, 789-800.

Cao, W., Tombran-Tink, J., Elias, R., Sezate, S., Mrazek, D., and McGinnis, J.F. (2001). In vivo protection of photoreceptors from light damage by pigment epithelium-derived factor. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci *42*, 1646-1652.

Cao, Y., Yang, T., Gu, C., and Yi, D. (2013). Pigment epithelium-derived factor delays cellular senescence of human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro by reducing oxidative stress. Cell biology international.

Capron, C., Lacout, C., Lecluse, Y., Jalbert, V., Chagraoui, H., Charrier, S., Galy, A., Bennaceur-Griscelli, A., Cramer-Borde, E., and Vainchenker, W. (2010). A major role of TGFbeta1 in the homing capacities of murine hematopoietic stem cell/progenitors. Blood *116*, 1244-1253.

Cashman, J.D., Eaves, A.C., Raines, E.W., Ross, R., and Eaves, C.J. (1990). Mechanisms that regulate the cell cycle status of very primitive hematopoietic cells in long-term human marrow cultures. I. Stimulatory role of a variety of mesenchymal cell activators and inhibitory role of TGF-beta. Blood *75*, 96-101.
Cavazzana-Calvo, M., Hacein-Bey, S., de Saint Basile, G., Gross, F., Yvon, E., Nusbaum, P., Selz, F., Hue, C., Certain, S., Casanova, J.L., *et al.* (2000). Gene therapy of human severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID)-X1 disease. Science *288*, 669-672.

Chadwick, K., Shojaei, F., Gallacher, L., and Bhatia, M. (2005). Smad7 alters cell fate decisions of human hematopoietic repopulating cells. Blood *105*, 1905-1915.

Challen, G.A., Boles, N.C., Chambers, S.M., and Goodell, M.A. (2010). Distinct hematopoietic stem cell subtypes are differentially regulated by TGF-beta1. Cell Stem Cell *6*, 265-278.

Challen, G.A., Sun, D., Jeong, M., Luo, M., Jelinek, J., Berg, J.S., Bock, C., Vasanthakumar, A., Gu, H., Xi, Y., *et al.* (2012). Dnmt3a is essential for hematopoietic stem cell differentiation. Nature genetics *44*, 23-31.

Chang, H., Brown, C.W., and Matzuk, M.M. (2002). Genetic analysis of the mammalian transforming growth factor-beta superfamily. Endocrine reviews *23*, 787-823.

Chaurasia, P., Gajzer, D.C., Schaniel, C., D'Souza, S., and Hoffman, R. (2014). Epigenetic reprogramming induces the expansion of cord blood stem cells. The Journal of clinical investigation.

Chen, L., Zhang, S.S., Barnstable, C.J., and Tombran-Tink, J. (2006). PEDF induces apoptosis in human endothelial cells by activating p38 MAP kinase dependent cleavage of multiple caspases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *348*, 1288-1295.

Cheng, T., Rodrigues, N., Shen, H., Yang, Y., Dombkowski, D., Sykes, M., and Scadden, D.T. (2000). Hematopoietic stem cell quiescence maintained by p21cip1/waf1. Science 287, 1804-1808.

Cheng, T., Shen, H., Rodrigues, N., Stier, S., and Scadden, D.T. (2001). Transforming growth factor beta 1 mediates cell-cycle arrest of primitive hematopoietic cells independent of p21(Cip1/Waf1) or p27(Kip1). Blood *98*, 3643-3649.

Cherry, A.B., and Daley, G.Q. (2013). Reprogrammed cells for disease modeling and regenerative medicine. Annual review of medicine *64*, 277-290.

Cheshier, S.H., Morrison, S.J., Liao, X., and Weissman, I.L. (1999). In vivo proliferation and cell cycle kinetics of long-term self-renewing hematopoietic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 3120-3125.

Chiellini, C., Cochet, O., Negroni, L., Samson, M., Poggi, M., Ailhaud, G., Alessi, M.C., Dani, C., and Amri, E.Z. (2008). Characterization of human mesenchymal stem cell secretome at early steps of adipocyte and osteoblast differentiation. BMC Mol Biol *9*, 26.

Choi, K., Kennedy, M., Kazarov, A., Papadimitriou, J.C., and Keller, G. (1998). A common precursor for hematopoietic and endothelial cells. Development *125*, 725-732.

Chow, A., Huggins, M., Ahmed, J., Hashimoto, D., Lucas, D., Kunisaki, Y., Pinho, S., Leboeuf, M., Noizat, C., van Rooijen, N., *et al.* (2013). CD169(+) macrophages provide a niche promoting erythropoiesis under homeostasis and stress. Nature medicine *19*, 429-436.

Chung, C., Doll, J.A., Gattu, A.K., Shugrue, C., Cornwell, M., Fitchev, P., and Crawford, S.E. (2008). Anti-angiogenic pigment epithelium-derived factor regulates hepatocyte triglyceride content through adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL). J Hepatol *48*, 471-478.

Cipolleschi, M.G., Dello Sbarba, P., and Olivotto, M. (1993). The role of hypoxia in the maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *82*, 2031-2037.

Civin, C.I., Strauss, L.C., Brovall, C., Fackler, M.J., Schwartz, J.F., and Shaper, J.H. (1984). Antigenic analysis of hematopoiesis. III. A hematopoietic progenitor cell surface antigen defined by a monoclonal antibody raised against KG-1a cells. J Immunol *133*, 157-165.

Copley, M.R., Beer, P.A., and Eaves, C.J. (2012). Hematopoietic stem cell heterogeneity takes center stage. Cell Stem Cell *10*, 690-697.

Crawford, S.E., Stellmach, V., Ranalli, M., Huang, X., Huang, L., Volpert, O., De Vries, G.H., Abramson, L.P., and Bouck, N. (2001). Pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) in neuroblastoma: a multifunctional mediator of Schwann cell antitumor activity. Journal of cell science *114*, 4421-4428.

Csaszar, E., Kirouac, D.C., Yu, M., Wang, W., Qiao, W., Cooke, M.P., Boitano, A.E., Ito, C., and Zandstra, P.W. (2012). Rapid expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells by automated control of inhibitory feedback signaling. Cell Stem Cell *10*, 218-229.

Cutler, C., Multani, P., Robbins, D., Kim, H.T., Le, T., Hoggatt, J., Pelus, L.M., Desponts, C., Chen, Y.B., Rezner, B., *et al.* (2013). Prostaglandin-modulated umbilical cord blood hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Blood *122*, 3074-3081.

Dao, M.A., Hwa, J., and Nolta, J.A. (2002). Molecular mechanism of transforming growth factor beta-mediated cell-cycle modulation in primary human CD34(+) progenitors. Blood *99*, 499-506.

Dao, M.A., Taylor, N., and Nolta, J.A. (1998). Reduction in levels of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27(kip-1) coupled with transforming growth factor beta neutralization induces cell-cycle entry and increases retroviral transduction of primitive human hematopoietic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 13006-13011.

Dawson, D.W., Volpert, O.V., Gillis, P., Crawford, S.E., Xu, H., Benedict, W., and Bouck, N.P. (1999). Pigment epithelium-derived factor: a potent inhibitor of angiogenesis. Science *285*, 245-248.

de Bruin, A.M., Demirel, O., Hooibrink, B., Brandts, C.H., and Nolte, M.A. (2013). Interferongamma impairs proliferation of hematopoietic stem cells in mice. Blood *121*, 3578-3585.

de Martin, R., Haendler, B., Hofer-Warbinek, R., Gaugitsch, H., Wrann, M., Schlusener, H., Seifert, J.M., Bodmer, S., Fontana, A., and Hofer, E. (1987). Complementary DNA for human glioblastoma-derived T cell suppressor factor, a novel member of the transforming growth factor-beta gene family. The EMBO journal *6*, 3673-3677.

De Marzo, A., Aruta, C., and Marigo, V. (2010). PEDF promotes retinal neurosphere formation and expansion in vitro. Adv Exp Med Biol *664*, 621-630.

DeCoster, M.A., Schabelman, E., Tombran-Tink, J., and Bazan, N.G. (1999). Neuroprotection by pigment epithelial-derived factor against glutamate toxicity in developing primary hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci Res *56*, 604-610.

Delaney, C., Heimfeld, S., Brashem-Stein, C., Voorhies, H., Manger, R.L., and Bernstein, I.D. (2010). Notch-mediated expansion of human cord blood progenitor cells capable of rapid myeloid reconstitution. Nature medicine *16*, 232-236.

Delaney, C., Varnum-Finney, B., Aoyama, K., Brashem-Stein, C., and Bernstein, I.D. (2005). Dose-dependent effects of the Notch ligand Delta1 on ex vivo differentiation and in vivo marrow repopulating ability of cord blood cells. Blood *106*, 2693-2699.

Derynck, R., Jarrett, J.A., Chen, E.Y., Eaton, D.H., Bell, J.R., Assoian, R.K., Roberts, A.B., Sporn, M.B., and Goeddel, D.V. (1985). Human transforming growth factor-beta complementary DNA sequence and expression in normal and transformed cells. Nature *316*, 701-705.

Derynck, R., Lindquist, P.B., Lee, A., Wen, D., Tamm, J., Graycar, J.L., Rhee, L., Mason, A.J., Miller, D.A., Coffey, R.J., *et al.* (1988). A new type of transforming growth factor-beta, TGF-beta 3. The EMBO journal 7, 3737-3743.

Dick, J.E., Magli, M.C., Huszar, D., Phillips, R.A., and Bernstein, A. (1985). Introduction of a selectable gene into primitive stem cells capable of long-term reconstitution of the hemopoietic system of W/Wv mice. Cell *42*, 71-79.

Ding, L., and Morrison, S.J. (2013). Haematopoietic stem cells and early lymphoid progenitors occupy distinct bone marrow niches. Nature 495, 231-235.

Ding, L., Saunders, T.L., Enikolopov, G., and Morrison, S.J. (2012). Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *481*, 457-462.

Doll, J.A., Stellmach, V.M., Bouck, N.P., Bergh, A.R., Lee, C., Abramson, L.P., Cornwell, M.L., Pins, M.R., Borensztajn, J., and Crawford, S.E. (2003). Pigment epithelium-derived factor regulates the vasculature and mass of the prostate and pancreas. Nature medicine *9*, 774-780.

Domen, J. (2000). The role of apoptosis in regulating hematopoiesis and hematopoietic stem cells. Immunologic research 22, 83-94.

Domen, J., Cheshier, S.H., and Weissman, I.L. (2000). The role of apoptosis in the regulation of hematopoietic stem cells: Overexpression of Bcl-2 increases both their number and repopulation potential. J Exp Med *191*, 253-264.

Domen, J., and Weissman, I.L. (1999). Self-renewal, differentiation or death: regulation and manipulation of hematopoietic stem cell fate. Mol Med Today 5, 201-208.

Domen, J., and Weissman, I.L. (2003). Hematopoietic stem cells and other hematopoietic cells show broad resistance to chemotherapeutic agents in vivo when overexpressing bcl-2. Experimental hematology *31*, 631-639.

Doulatov, S., Notta, F., Laurenti, E., and Dick, J.E. (2012). Hematopoiesis: a human perspective. Cell Stem Cell *10*, 120-136.

Ducos, K., Panterne, B., Fortunel, N., Hatzfeld, A., Monier, M.N., and Hatzfeld, J. (2000). p21(cip1) mRNA is controlled by endogenous transforming growth factor-beta1 in quiescent human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. J Cell Physiol *184*, 80-85.

Dykstra, B., Kent, D., Bowie, M., McCaffrey, L., Hamilton, M., Lyons, K., Lee, S.J., Brinkman, R., and Eaves, C. (2007). Long-term propagation of distinct hematopoietic differentiation programs in vivo. Cell Stem Cell *1*, 218-229.

Ehninger, A., and Trumpp, A. (2011). The bone marrow stem cell niche grows up: mesenchymal stem cells and macrophages move in. J Exp Med *208*, 421-428.

Ema, H., Morita, Y., and Suda, T. (2014). Heterogeneity and hierarchy of hematopoietic stem cells. Experimental hematology *42*, 74-82 e72.

Ema, H., and Nakauchi, H. (2000). Expansion of hematopoietic stem cells in the developing liver of a mouse embryo. Blood *95*, 2284-2288.

Ema, H., Takano, H., Sudo, K., and Nakauchi, H. (2000). In vitro self-renewal division of hematopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med *192*, 1281-1288.

Emmrich, S., Rasche, M., Schoning, J., Reimer, C., Keihani, S., Maroz, A., Xie, Y., Li, Z., Schambach, A., Reinhardt, D., *et al.* (2014). miR-99a/100~125b tricistrons regulate hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell homeostasis by shifting the balance between TGFbeta and Wnt signaling. Genes Dev 28, 858-874.

Enver, T., Heyworth, C.M., and Dexter, T.M. (1998). Do stem cells play dice? Blood 92, 348-351; discussion 352.

Esteller, M. (2007). Epigenetic gene silencing in cancer: the DNA hypermethylome. Human molecular genetics *16 Spec No 1*, R50-59.

Fan, X., Valdimarsdottir, G., Larsson, J., Brun, A., Magnusson, M., Jacobsen, S.E., ten Dijke, P., and Karlsson, S. (2002). Transient disruption of autocrine TGF-beta signaling leads to enhanced survival and proliferation potential in single primitive human hemopoietic progenitor cells. J Immunol *168*, 755-762.

Filleur, S., Volz, K., Nelius, T., Mirochnik, Y., Huang, H., Zaichuk, T.A., Aymerich, M.S., Becerra, S.P., Yap, R., Veliceasa, D., *et al.* (2005). Two functional epitopes of pigment epithelial-derived factor block angiogenesis and induce differentiation in prostate cancer. Cancer Res *65*, 5144-5152.

Fortunel, N., Batard, P., Hatzfeld, A., Monier, M.N., Panterne, B., Lebkowski, J., and Hatzfeld, J. (1998). High proliferative potential-quiescent cells: a working model to study primitive quiescent hematopoietic cells. Journal of cell science *111 (Pt 13)*, 1867-1875.

Fortunel, N., Hatzfeld, J., Kisselev, S., Monier, M.N., Ducos, K., Cardoso, A., Batard, P., and Hatzfeld, A. (2000). Release from quiescence of primitive human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells by blocking their cell-surface TGF-beta type II receptor in a short-term in vitro assay. Stem Cells *18*, 102-111.

Foudi, A., Hochedlinger, K., Van Buren, D., Schindler, J.W., Jaenisch, R., Carey, V., and Hock, H. (2009). Analysis of histone 2B-GFP retention reveals slowly cycling hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol *27*, 84-90.

Garbe, A., Spyridonidis, A., Mobest, D., Schmoor, C., Mertelsmann, R., and Henschler, R. (1997). Transforming growth factor-beta 1 delays formation of granulocyte-macrophage colony-forming cells, but spares more primitive progenitors during ex vivo expansion of CD34+ haemopoietic progenitor cells. Br J Haematol *99*, 951-958.

Garcia, M., Fernandez-Garcia, N.I., Rivas, V., Carretero, M., Escamez, M.J., Gonzalez-Martin, A., Medrano, E.E., Volpert, O., Jorcano, J.L., Jimenez, B., *et al.* (2004a). Inhibition of xenografted human melanoma growth and prevention of metastasis development by dual antiangiogenic/antitumor activities of pigment epithelium-derived factor. Cancer Res *64*, 5632-5642.

Garcia, M., Fernandez-Garcia, N.I., Rivas, V., Carretero, M., Escamez, M.J., Gonzalez-Martin, A., Medrano, E.E., Volpert, O., Jorcano, J.L., Jimenez, B., *et al.* (2004b). Inhibition of xenografted human melanoma growth and prevention of metastasis development by dual antiangiogenic/antitumor activities of pigment epithelium-derived factor. Cancer Res *64*, 5632-5642.

Gattu, A.K., Swenson, E.S., Iwakiri, Y., Samuel, V.T., Troiano, N., Berry, R., Church, C.D., Rodeheffer, M.S., Carpenter, T.O., and Chung, C. (2013). Determination of mesenchymal stem cell fate by pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) results in increased adiposity and reduced bone mineral content. Faseb J *27*, 4384-4394.

Gekas, C., Dieterlen-Lievre, F., Orkin, S.H., and Mikkola, H.K. (2005). The placenta is a niche for hematopoietic stem cells. Developmental cell *8*, 365-375.

Gerber, H.P., Malik, A.K., Solar, G.P., Sherman, D., Liang, X.H., Meng, G., Hong, K., Marsters, J.C., and Ferrara, N. (2002). VEGF regulates haematopoietic stem cell survival by an internal autocrine loop mechanism. Nature *417*, 954-958.

Gleizes, P.E., Munger, J.S., Nunes, I., Harpel, J.G., Mazzieri, R., Noguera, I., and Rifkin, D.B. (1997). TGF-beta latency: biological significance and mechanisms of activation. Stem Cells *15*, 190-197.

Goessling, W., Allen, R.S., Guan, X., Jin, P., Uchida, N., Dovey, M., Harris, J.M., Metzger, M.E., Bonifacino, A.C., Stroncek, D., *et al.* (2011). Prostaglandin E2 enhances human cord blood stem cell xenotransplants and shows long-term safety in preclinical nonhuman primate transplant models. Cell Stem Cell *8*, 445-458.

Goessling, W., North, T.E., Loewer, S., Lord, A.M., Lee, S., Stoick-Cooper, C.L., Weidinger, G., Puder, M., Daley, G.Q., Moon, R.T., *et al.* (2009). Genetic interaction of PGE2 and Wnt signaling regulates developmental specification of stem cells and regeneration. Cell *136*, 1136-1147.

Goey, H., Keller, J.R., Back, T., Longo, D.L., Ruscetti, F.W., and Wiltrout, R.H. (1989). Inhibition of early murine hemopoietic progenitor cell proliferation after in vivo locoregional administration of transforming growth factor-beta 1. J Immunol *143*, 877-880. Gonzalez, R., Jennings, L.L., Knuth, M., Orth, A.P., Klock, H.E., Ou, W., Feuerhelm, J., Hull, M.V., Koesema, E., Wang, Y., *et al.* (2010). Screening the mammalian extracellular proteome for regulators of embryonic human stem cell pluripotency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 3552-3557.

Goodell, M.A., Brose, K., Paradis, G., Conner, A.S., and Mulligan, R.C. (1996). Isolation and functional properties of murine hematopoietic stem cells that are replicating in vivo. J Exp Med *183*, 1797-1806.

Goodell, M.A., Rosenzweig, M., Kim, H., Marks, D.F., DeMaria, M., Paradis, G., Grupp, S.A., Sieff, C.A., Mulligan, R.C., and Johnson, R.P. (1997). Dye efflux studies suggest that hematopoietic stem cells expressing low or undetectable levels of CD34 antigen exist in multiple species. Nature medicine *3*, 1337-1345.

Grady, W.M., Myeroff, L.L., Swinler, S.E., Rajput, A., Thiagalingam, S., Lutterbaugh, J.D., Neumann, A., Brattain, M.G., Chang, J., Kim, S.J., *et al.* (1999). Mutational inactivation of transforming growth factor beta receptor type II in microsatellite stable colon cancers. Cancer Res *59*, 320-324.

Greenbaum, A., Hsu, Y.M., Day, R.B., Schuettpelz, L.G., Christopher, M.J., Borgerding, J.N., Nagasawa, T., and Link, D.C. (2013). CXCL12 in early mesenchymal progenitors is required for haematopoietic stem-cell maintenance. Nature *495*, 227-230.

Grippo, P.J., Fitchev, P.S., Bentrem, D.J., Melstrom, L.G., Dangi-Garimella, S., Krantz, S.B., Heiferman, M.J., Chung, C., Adrian, K., Cornwell, M.L., *et al.* (2012). Concurrent PEDF deficiency and Kras mutation induce invasive pancreatic cancer and adipose-rich stroma in mice. Gut *61*, 1454-1464.

Hacein-Bey-Abina, S., von Kalle, C., Schmidt, M., Le Deist, F., Wulffraat, N., McIntyre, E., Radford, I., Villeval, J.L., Fraser, C.C., Cavazzana-Calvo, M., *et al.* (2003a). A serious adverse event after successful gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med *348*, 255-256.

Hacein-Bey-Abina, S., Von Kalle, C., Schmidt, M., McCormack, M.P., Wulffraat, N., Leboulch, P., Lim, A., Osborne, C.S., Pawliuk, R., Morillon, E., *et al.* (2003b). LMO2-associated clonal T cell proliferation in two patients after gene therapy for SCID-X1. Science *302*, 415-419.

Haeckel, E. (1968). Natürliche Schöpfungsgeschichte. Georg Reimer, Berlin.

Hager, M., Pedersen, C.C., Larsen, M.T., Andersen, M.K., Hother, C., Gronbaek, K., Jarmer, H., Borregaard, N., and Cowland, J.B. (2011). MicroRNA-130a-mediated down-regulation of Smad4 contributes to reduced sensitivity to TGF-beta1 stimulation in granulocytic precursors. Blood *118*, 6649-6659.

Halin, S., Wikstrom, P., Rudolfsson, S.H., Stattin, P., Doll, J.A., Crawford, S.E., and Bergh, A. (2004). Decreased pigment epithelium-derived factor is associated with metastatic phenotype in human and rat prostate tumors. Cancer Res *64*, 5664-5671.

Han, Y.C., Park, C.Y., Bhagat, G., Zhang, J., Wang, Y., Fan, J.B., Liu, M., Zou, Y., Weissman, I.L., and Gu, H. (2010). microRNA-29a induces aberrant self-renewal capacity in

hematopoietic progenitors, biased myeloid development, and acute myeloid leukemia. J Exp Med 207, 475-489.

Hanna, J., Wernig, M., Markoulaki, S., Sun, C.W., Meissner, A., Cassady, J.P., Beard, C., Brambrink, T., Wu, L.C., Townes, T.M., *et al.* (2007). Treatment of sickle cell anemia mouse model with iPS cells generated from autologous skin. Science *318*, 1920-1923.

Hatzfeld, J., Li, M.L., Brown, E.L., Sookdeo, H., Levesque, J.P., O'Toole, T., Gurney, C., Clark, S.C., and Hatzfeld, A. (1991). Release of early human hematopoietic progenitors from quiescence by antisense transforming growth factor beta 1 or Rb oligonucleotides. The Journal of experimental medicine *174*, 925-929.

Haurigot, V., Villacampa, P., Ribera, A., Bosch, A., Ramos, D., Ruberte, J., and Bosch, F. (2012). Long-term retinal PEDF overexpression prevents neovascularization in a murine adult model of retinopathy. PLoS One *7*, e41511.

He, W., Dorn, D.C., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Moore, M.A., and Massague, J. (2006). Hematopoiesis controlled by distinct TIF1gamma and Smad4 branches of the TGFbeta pathway. Cell *125*, 929-941.

Himburg, H.A., Muramoto, G.G., Daher, P., Meadows, S.K., Russell, J.L., Doan, P., Chi, J.T., Salter, A.B., Lento, W.E., Reya, T., *et al.* (2010). Pleiotrophin regulates the expansion and regeneration of hematopoietic stem cells. Nature medicine *16*, 475-482.

Hirsch, J., Johnson, C.L., Nelius, T., Kennedy, R., Riese, W., and Filleur, S. (2011). PEDF inhibits IL8 production in prostate cancer cells through PEDF receptor/phospholipase A2 and regulation of NFkappaB and PPARgamma. Cytokine *55*, 202-210.

Ho, T.C., Chen, S.L., Wu, J.Y., Ho, M.Y., Chen, L.J., Hsieh, J.W., Cheng, H.C., and Tsao, Y.P. (2013). PEDF promotes self-renewal of limbal stem cell and accelerates corneal epithelial wound healing. Stem Cells *31*, 1775-1784.

Ho, T.C., Chen, S.L., Yang, Y.C., Liao, C.L., Cheng, H.C., and Tsao, Y.P. (2007). PEDF induces p53-mediated apoptosis through PPAR gamma signaling in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Cardiovascular research *76*, 213-223.

Hock, H., Hamblen, M.J., Rooke, H.M., Schindler, J.W., Saleque, S., Fujiwara, Y., and Orkin, S.H. (2004). Gfi-1 restricts proliferation and preserves functional integrity of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *431*, 1002-1007.

Hollsberg, P., Ausubel, L.J., and Hafler, D.A. (1994). Human T cell lymphotropic virus type Iinduced T cell activation. Resistance to TGF-beta 1-induced suppression. J Immunol *153*, 566-573.

Ikuta, K., and Weissman, I.L. (1992). Evidence that hematopoietic stem cells express mouse ckit but do not depend on steel factor for their generation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *89*, 1502-1506.

Imai, Y., Kurokawa, M., Izutsu, K., Hangaishi, A., Maki, K., Ogawa, S., Chiba, S., Mitani, K., and Hirai, H. (2001). Mutations of the Smad4 gene in acute myelogeneous leukemia and their functional implications in leukemogenesis. Oncogene *20*, 88-96.

Ito, K., Hirao, A., Arai, F., Takubo, K., Matsuoka, S., Miyamoto, K., Ohmura, M., Naka, K., Hosokawa, K., Ikeda, Y., *et al.* (2006). Reactive oxygen species act through p38 MAPK to limit the lifespan of hematopoietic stem cells. Nature medicine *12*, 446-451.

Ito, M., Hiramatsu, H., Kobayashi, K., Suzue, K., Kawahata, M., Hioki, K., Ueyama, Y., Koyanagi, Y., Sugamura, K., Tsuji, K., *et al.* (2002). NOD/SCID/gamma(c)(null) mouse: an excellent recipient mouse model for engraftment of human cells. Blood *100*, 3175-3182.

Itoh, F., Itoh, S., Goumans, M.J., Valdimarsdottir, G., Iso, T., Dotto, G.P., Hamamori, Y., Kedes, L., Kato, M., and ten Dijke Pt, P. (2004). Synergy and antagonism between Notch and BMP receptor signaling pathways in endothelial cells. The EMBO journal *23*, 541-551.

Iwama, A., Oguro, H., Negishi, M., Kato, Y., Morita, Y., Tsukui, H., Ema, H., Kamijo, T., Katoh-Fukui, Y., Koseki, H., *et al.* (2004). Enhanced self-renewal of hematopoietic stem cells mediated by the polycomb gene product Bmi-1. Immunity *21*, 843-851.

Iwata, J., Hacia, J.G., Suzuki, A., Sanchez-Lara, P.A., Urata, M., and Chai, Y. (2012). Modulation of noncanonical TGF-beta signaling prevents cleft palate in Tgfbr2 mutant mice. The Journal of clinical investigation *122*, 873-885.

Jacobsen, F.W., Stokke, T., and Jacobsen, S.E. (1995). Transforming growth factor-beta potently inhibits the viability-promoting activity of stem cell factor and other cytokines and induces apoptosis of primitive murine hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood *86*, 2957-2966.

Jacobsen, S.E., Keller, J.R., Ruscetti, F.W., Kondaiah, P., Roberts, A.B., and Falk, L.A. (1991). Bidirectional effects of transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta) on colonystimulating factor-induced human myelopoiesis in vitro: differential effects of distinct TGFbeta isoforms. Blood *78*, 2239-2247.

Jacobsen, S.E., Ruscetti, F.W., Dubois, C.M., and Keller, J.R. (1992). Tumor necrosis factor alpha directly and indirectly regulates hematopoietic progenitor cell proliferation: role of colony-stimulating factor receptor modulation. J Exp Med *175*, 1759-1772.

Jakubowiak, A., Pouponnot, C., Berguido, F., Frank, R., Mao, S., Massague, J., and Nimer, S.D. (2000). Inhibition of the transforming growth factor beta 1 signaling pathway by the AML1/ETO leukemia-associated fusion protein. J Biol Chem *275*, 40282-40287.

Ji, H., Ehrlich, L.I., Seita, J., Murakami, P., Doi, A., Lindau, P., Lee, H., Aryee, M.J., Irizarry, R.A., Kim, K., *et al.* (2010). Comprehensive methylome map of lineage commitment from haematopoietic progenitors. Nature *467*, 338-342.

Jordan, C.T., and Lemischka, I.R. (1990). Clonal and systemic analysis of long-term hematopoiesis in the mouse. Genes Dev 4, 220-232.

Jude, C.D., Climer, L., Xu, D., Artinger, E., Fisher, J.K., and Ernst, P. (2007). Unique and independent roles for MLL in adult hematopoietic stem cells and progenitors. Cell Stem Cell *1*, 324-337.

Kanemura, H., Go, M.J., Nishishita, N., Sakai, N., Kamao, H., Sato, Y., Takahashi, M., and Kawamata, S. (2013). Pigment epithelium-derived factor secreted from retinal pigment epithelium facilitates apoptotic cell death of iPSC. Scientific reports *3*, 2334.

Karakousis, P.C., John, S.K., Behling, K.C., Surace, E.M., Smith, J.E., Hendrickson, A., Tang, W.X., Bennett, J., and Milam, A.H. (2001). Localization of pigment epithelium derived factor (PEDF) in developing and adult human ocular tissues. Mol Vis *7*, 154-163.

Karlsson, G., Blank, U., Moody, J.L., Ehinger, M., Singbrant, S., Deng, C.X., and Karlsson, S. (2007). Smad4 is critical for self-renewal of hematopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med 204, 467-474.

Karlsson, S., Ooka, A., and Woods, N.B. (2002). Development of gene therapy for blood disorders by gene transfer into haematopoietic stem cells. Haemophilia : the official journal of the World Federation of Hemophilia *8*, 255-260.

Katayama, Y., Battista, M., Kao, W.M., Hidalgo, A., Peired, A.J., Thomas, S.A., and Frenette, P.S. (2006). Signals from the sympathetic nervous system regulate hematopoietic stem cell egress from bone marrow. Cell *124*, 407-421.

Katsumoto, T., Aikawa, Y., Iwama, A., Ueda, S., Ichikawa, H., Ochiya, T., and Kitabayashi, I. (2006). MOZ is essential for maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells. Genes Dev 20, 1321-1330.

Keller, G., Paige, C., Gilboa, E., and Wagner, E.F. (1985). Expression of a foreign gene in myeloid and lymphoid cells derived from multipotent haematopoietic precursors. Nature *318*, 149-154.

Keller, G., and Snodgrass, R. (1990). Life span of multipotential hematopoietic stem cells in vivo. The Journal of experimental medicine *171*, 1407-1418.

Keller, J.R., Ortiz, M., and Ruscetti, F.W. (1995). Steel factor (c-kit ligand) promotes the survival of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells in the absence of cell division. Blood *86*, 1757-1764.

Kent, D.G., Dykstra, B.J., Cheyne, J., Ma, E., and Eaves, C.J. (2008). Steel factor coordinately regulates the molecular signature and biologic function of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *112*, 560-567.

Kiel, M.J., He, S., Ashkenazi, R., Gentry, S.N., Teta, M., Kushner, J.A., Jackson, T.L., and Morrison, S.J. (2007). Haematopoietic stem cells do not asymmetrically segregate chromosomes or retain BrdU. Nature *449*, 238-242.

Kiel, M.J., Yilmaz, O.H., Iwashita, T., Yilmaz, O.H., Terhorst, C., and Morrison, S.J. (2005). SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell *121*, 1109-1121.

Kim, S.J., and Letterio, J. (2003). Transforming growth factor-beta signaling in normal and malignant hematopoiesis. Leukemia *17*, 1731-1737.

Kim, S.J., Winokur, T.S., Lee, H.D., Danielpour, D., Kim, K.Y., Geiser, A.G., Chen, L.S., Sporn, M.B., Roberts, A.B., and Jay, G. (1991). Overexpression of transforming growth factorbeta in transgenic mice carrying the human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I tax gene. Mol Cell Biol *11*, 5222-5228. Kimura, S., Roberts, A.W., Metcalf, D., and Alexander, W.S. (1998). Hematopoietic stem cell deficiencies in mice lacking c-Mpl, the receptor for thrombopoietin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 1195-1200.

Kitisin, K., Saha, T., Blake, T., Golestaneh, N., Deng, M., Kim, C., Tang, Y., Shetty, K., Mishra, B., and Mishra, L. (2007). Tgf-Beta signaling in development. Science's STKE : signal transduction knowledge environment *2007*, cm1.

Knaus, P.I., Lindemann, D., DeCoteau, J.F., Perlman, R., Yankelev, H., Hille, M., Kadin, M.E., and Lodish, H.F. (1996). A dominant inhibitory mutant of the type II transforming growth factor beta receptor in the malignant progression of a cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 3480-3489.

Kondo, M., Weissman, I.L., and Akashi, K. (1997). Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. Cell *91*, 661-672.

Korbling, M., and Freireich, E.J. (2011). Twenty-five years of peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. Blood *117*, 6411-6416.

Kurokawa, M., Mitani, K., Imai, Y., Ogawa, S., Yazaki, Y., and Hirai, H. (1998). The t(3;21) fusion product, AML1/Evi-1, interacts with Smad3 and blocks transforming growth factorbeta-mediated growth inhibition of myeloid cells. Blood *92*, 4003-4012.

Labbe, E., Letamendia, A., and Attisano, L. (2000). Association of Smads with lymphoid enhancer binding factor 1/T cell-specific factor mediates cooperative signaling by the transforming growth factor-beta and wnt pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 8358-8363.

Langer, J.C., Henckaerts, E., Orenstein, J., and Snoeck, H.W. (2004). Quantitative trait analysis reveals transforming growth factor-beta2 as a positive regulator of early hematopoietic progenitor and stem cell function. The Journal of experimental medicine *199*, 5-14.

Lansdorp, P.M., Sutherland, H.J., and Eaves, C.J. (1990). Selective expression of CD45 isoforms on functional subpopulations of CD34+ hemopoietic cells from human bone marrow. J Exp Med *172*, 363-366.

Larochelle, A., Savona, M., Wiggins, M., Anderson, S., Ichwan, B., Keyvanfar, K., Morrison, S.J., and Dunbar, C.E. (2011). Human and rhesus macaque hematopoietic stem cells cannot be purified based only on SLAM family markers. Blood *117*, 1550-1554.

Larochelle, A., Vormoor, J., Hanenberg, H., Wang, J.C., Bhatia, M., Lapidot, T., Moritz, T., Murdoch, B., Xiao, X.L., Kato, I., *et al.* (1996). Identification of primitive human hematopoietic cells capable of repopulating NOD/SCID mouse bone marrow: implications for gene therapy. Nature medicine *2*, 1329-1337.

Larsson, J., Blank, U., Helgadottir, H., Bjornsson, J.M., Ehinger, M., Goumans, M.J., Fan, X., Leveen, P., and Karlsson, S. (2003). TGF-beta signaling-deficient hematopoietic stem cells have normal self-renewal and regenerative ability in vivo despite increased proliferative capacity in vitro. Blood *102*, 3129-3135.

Larsson, J., Blank, U., Klintman, J., Magnusson, M., and Karlsson, S. (2005). Quiescence of hematopoietic stem cells and maintenance of the stem cell pool is not dependent on TGF-beta signaling in vivo. Experimental hematology *33*, 592-596.

Larsson, J., and Karlsson, S. (2005). The role of Smad signaling in hematopoiesis. Oncogene 24, 5676-5692.

Lee, D.K., Kim, B.C., Brady, J.N., Jeang, K.T., and Kim, S.J. (2002). Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 tax inhibits transforming growth factor-beta signaling by blocking the association of Smad proteins with Smad-binding element. J Biol Chem *277*, 33766-33775.

Letterio, J.J., Geiser, A.G., Kulkarni, A.B., Dang, H., Kong, L., Nakabayashi, T., Mackall, C.L., Gress, R.E., and Roberts, A.B. (1996). Autoimmunity associated with TGF-beta1deficiency in mice is dependent on MHC class II antigen expression. The Journal of clinical investigation *98*, 2109-2119.

Leveen, P., Larsson, J., Ehinger, M., Cilio, C.M., Sundler, M., Sjostrand, L.J., Holmdahl, R., and Karlsson, S. (2002). Induced disruption of the transforming growth factor beta type II receptor gene in mice causes a lethal inflammatory disorder that is transplantable. Blood *100*, 560-568.

Li, C.L., and Johnson, G.R. (1994). Stem cell factor enhances the survival but not the self-renewal of murine hematopoietic long-term repopulating cells. Blood *84*, 408-414.

Li, E., Bestor, T.H., and Jaenisch, R. (1992). Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. Cell *69*, 915-926.

Li, M.O., Wan, Y.Y., Sanjabi, S., Robertson, A.K., and Flavell, R.A. (2006). Transforming growth factor-beta regulation of immune responses. Annual review of immunology *24*, 99-146.

Liu, M., Miller, C.L., and Eaves, C.J. (2013). Human long-term culture initiating cell assay. Methods Mol Biol *946*, 241-256.

Lo Celso, C., Fleming, H.E., Wu, J.W., Zhao, C.X., Miake-Lye, S., Fujisaki, J., Cote, D., Rowe, D.W., Lin, C.P., and Scadden, D.T. (2009). Live-animal tracking of individual haematopoietic stem/progenitor cells in their niche. Nature *457*, 92-96.

Luger, K., Mader, A.W., Richmond, R.K., Sargent, D.F., and Richmond, T.J. (1997). Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. Nature *389*, 251-260.

Macaulay, I.C., Thon, J.N., Tijssen, M.R., Steele, B.M., MacDonald, B.T., Meade, G., Burns, P., Rendon, A., Salunkhe, V., Murphy, R.P., *et al.* (2013). Canonical Wnt signaling in megakaryocytes regulates proplatelet formation. Blood *121*, 188-196.

Maciejewski, J., Selleri, C., Anderson, S., and Young, N.S. (1995). Fas antigen expression on CD34+ human marrow cells is induced by interferon gamma and tumor necrosis factor alpha and potentiates cytokine-mediated hematopoietic suppression in vitro. Blood *85*, 3183-3190.

Madisen, L., Webb, N.R., Rose, T.M., Marquardt, H., Ikeda, T., Twardzik, D., Seyedin, S., and Purchio, A.F. (1988). Transforming growth factor-beta 2: cDNA cloning and sequence analysis. DNA 7, 1-8.

Massague, J., Blain, S.W., and Lo, R.S. (2000). TGFbeta signaling in growth control, cancer, and heritable disorders. Cell *103*, 295-309.

Massague, J., Seoane, J., and Wotton, D. (2005). Smad transcription factors. Genes Dev 19, 2783-2810.

Massague, J., and Wotton, D. (2000). Transcriptional control by the TGF-beta/Smad signaling system. The EMBO journal *19*, 1745-1754.

Matsui, T., Higashimoto, Y., and Yamagishi, S. (2014). Laminin receptor mediates antiinflammatory and anti-thrombogenic effects of pigment epithelium-derived factor in myeloma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *443*, 847-851.

Matsumoto, A., Takeishi, S., Kanie, T., Susaki, E., Onoyama, I., Tateishi, Y., Nakayama, K., and Nakayama, K.I. (2011). p57 is required for quiescence and maintenance of adult hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell *9*, 262-271.

Maximow, A.A. (1909). Der Lymphozyt als gemeinsame Stammzelle der verschiedenen Blutelemente in der embryonalen Entwicklung und im postfetalen Leben der Säugetiere Folia Haematologica *8*, 125-134.

Medvinsky, A., and Dzierzak, E. (1996). Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. Cell *86*, 897-906.

Medvinsky, A., Rybtsov, S., and Taoudi, S. (2011). Embryonic origin of the adult hematopoietic system: advances and questions. Development *138*, 1017-1031.

Mendez-Ferrer, S., and Frenette, P.S. (2007). Hematopoietic stem cell trafficking: regulated adhesion and attraction to bone marrow microenvironment. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences *1116*, 392-413.

Mendez-Ferrer, S., Lucas, D., Battista, M., and Frenette, P.S. (2008). Haematopoietic stem cell release is regulated by circadian oscillations. Nature *452*, 442-447.

Mendez-Ferrer, S., Michurina, T.V., Ferraro, F., Mazloom, A.R., Macarthur, B.D., Lira, S.A., Scadden, D.T., Ma'ayan, A., Enikolopov, G.N., and Frenette, P.S. (2010). Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. Nature *466*, 829-834.

Micklem, H.S., Ford, C.E., Evans, E.P., Ogden, D.A., and Papworth, D.S. (1972). Competitive in vivo proliferation of foetal and adult haematopoietic cells in lethally irradiated mice. J Cell Physiol *79*, 293-298.

Miharada, K., Karlsson, G., Rehn, M., Rorby, E., Siva, K., Cammenga, J., and Karlsson, S. (2011). Cripto regulates hematopoietic stem cells as a hypoxic-niche-related factor through cell surface receptor GRP78. Cell Stem Cell *9*, 330-344.

Miharada, K., Sigurdsson, V., and Karlsson, S. (2014). Dppa5 improves hematopoietic stem cell activity by reducing endoplasmic reticulum stress. Cell Rep 7, 1381-1392.

Miller, C.L., Rebel, V.I., Lemieux, M.E., Helgason, C.D., Lansdorp, P.M., and Eaves, C.J. (1996). Studies of W mutant mice provide evidence for alternate mechanisms capable of activating hematopoietic stem cells. Experimental hematology *24*, 185-194.

Molenaar, J.J., Gerard, B., Chambon-Pautas, C., Cave, H., Duval, M., Vilmer, E., and Grandchamp, B. (1998). Microsatellite instability and frameshift mutations in BAX and transforming growth factor-beta RII genes are very uncommon in acute lymphoblastic leukemia in vivo but not in cell lines. Blood *92*, 230-233.

Moore, M.A., and Metcalf, D. (1970). Ontogeny of the haemopoietic system: yolk sac origin of in vivo and in vitro colony forming cells in the developing mouse embryo. Br J Haematol *18*, 279-296.

Morrison, S.J., and Kimble, J. (2006). Asymmetric and symmetric stem-cell divisions in development and cancer. Nature *441*, 1068-1074.

Morrison, S.J., and Scadden, D.T. (2014). The bone marrow niche for haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *505*, 327-334.

Morrison, S.J., Uchida, N., and Weissman, I.L. (1995). The biology of hematopoietic stem cells. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol *11*, 35-71.

Morrison, S.J., and Weissman, I.L. (1994). The long-term repopulating subset of hematopoietic stem cells is deterministic and isolatable by phenotype. Immunity *1*, 661-673.

Mossadegh-Keller, N., Sarrazin, S., Kandalla, P.K., Espinosa, L., Stanley, E.R., Nutt, S.L., Moore, J., and Sieweke, M.H. (2013). M-CSF instructs myeloid lineage fate in single haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *497*, 239-243.

Motabi, I.H., and DiPersio, J.F. (2012). Advances in stem cell mobilization. Blood reviews 26, 267-278.

Muller, A.M., Medvinsky, A., Strouboulis, J., Grosveld, F., and Dzierzak, E. (1994). Development of hematopoietic stem cell activity in the mouse embryo. Immunity *1*, 291-301.

Murone, M., Carpenter, D.A., and de Sauvage, F.J. (1998). Hematopoietic deficiencies in c-mpl and TPO knockout mice. Stem Cells *16*, 1-6.

Nilsson, S.K., Johnston, H.M., Whitty, G.A., Williams, B., Webb, R.J., Denhardt, D.T., Bertoncello, I., Bendall, L.J., Simmons, P.J., and Haylock, D.N. (2005). Osteopontin, a key component of the hematopoietic stem cell niche and regulator of primitive hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood *106*, 1232-1239.

Nishita, M., Hashimoto, M.K., Ogata, S., Laurent, M.N., Ueno, N., Shibuya, H., and Cho, K.W. (2000). Interaction between Wnt and TGF-beta signalling pathways during formation of Spemann's organizer. Nature *403*, 781-785.

North, T.E., Goessling, W., Walkley, C.R., Lengerke, C., Kopani, K.R., Lord, A.M., Weber, G.J., Bowman, T.V., Jang, I.H., Grosser, T., *et al.* (2007). Prostaglandin E2 regulates vertebrate haematopoietic stem cell homeostasis. Nature *447*, 1007-1011.

Notari, L., Arakaki, N., Mueller, D., Meier, S., Amaral, J., and Becerra, S.P. (2010). Pigment epithelium-derived factor binds to cell-surface F(1)-ATP synthase. Febs J 277, 2192-2205.

Notari, L., Baladron, V., Aroca-Aguilar, J.D., Balko, N., Heredia, R., Meyer, C., Notario, P.M., Saravanamuthu, S., Nueda, M.L., Sanchez-Sanchez, F., *et al.* (2006). Identification of a lipase-linked cell membrane receptor for pigment epithelium-derived factor. J Biol Chem *281*, 38022-38037.

Notta, F., Doulatov, S., Laurenti, E., Poeppl, A., Jurisica, I., and Dick, J.E. (2011). Isolation of single human hematopoietic stem cells capable of long-term multilineage engraftment. Science *333*, 218-221.

O'Connell, R.M., Chaudhuri, A.A., Rao, D.S., Gibson, W.S., Balazs, A.B., and Baltimore, D. (2010). MicroRNAs enriched in hematopoietic stem cells differentially regulate long-term hematopoietic output. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 14235-14240.

Ogawa, M. (1993). Differentiation and proliferation of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *81*, 2844-2853.

Ogawa, M. (1999). Stochastic model revisited. International journal of hematology 69, 2-5.

Ohishi, K., Varnum-Finney, B., and Bernstein, I.D. (2002). The notch pathway: modulation of cell fate decisions in hematopoiesis. International journal of hematology *75*, 449-459.

Okano, M., Bell, D.W., Haber, D.A., and Li, E. (1999). DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. Cell *99*, 247-257.

Omatsu, Y., Sugiyama, T., Kohara, H., Kondoh, G., Fujii, N., Kohno, K., and Nagasawa, T. (2010). The essential functions of adipo-osteogenic progenitors as the hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell niche. Immunity *33*, 387-399.

Ooi, A.G., Sahoo, D., Adorno, M., Wang, Y., Weissman, I.L., and Park, C.Y. (2010). MicroRNA-125b expands hematopoietic stem cells and enriches for the lymphoid-balanced and lymphoid-biased subsets. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 21505-21510.

Ooi, S.K., O'Donnell, A.H., and Bestor, T.H. (2009). Mammalian cytosine methylation at a glance. J Cell Sci *122*, 2787-2791.

Osawa, M., Hanada, K., Hamada, H., and Nakauchi, H. (1996). Long-term lymphohematopoietic reconstitution by a single CD34-low/negative hematopoietic stem cell. Science *273*, 242-245.

Park, I.K., Qian, D., Kiel, M., Becker, M.W., Pihalja, M., Weissman, I.L., Morrison, S.J., and Clarke, M.F. (2003). Bmi-1 is required for maintenance of adult self-renewing haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *423*, 302-305.

Park, K., Jin, J., Hu, Y., Zhou, K., and Ma, J.X. (2011). Overexpression of pigment epitheliumderived factor inhibits retinal inflammation and neovascularization. Am J Pathol *178*, 688-698.

Parmar, K., Mauch, P., Vergilio, J.A., Sackstein, R., and Down, J.D. (2007). Distribution of hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow according to regional hypoxia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 5431-5436.

Piek, E., Heldin, C.H., and Ten Dijke, P. (1999). Specificity, diversity, and regulation in TGFbeta superfamily signaling. Faseb J 13, 2105-2124.

Pietras, E.M., Warr, M.R., and Passegue, E. (2011). Cell cycle regulation in hematopoietic stem cells. The Journal of cell biology *195*, 709-720.

Pignolo, R.J., Francis, M.K., Rotenberg, M.O., and Cristofalo, V.J. (2003). Putative role for EPC-1/PEDF in the G0 growth arrest of human diploid fibroblasts. J Cell Physiol *195*, 12-20.

Pronk, C.J., Rossi, D.J., Mansson, R., Attema, J.L., Norddahl, G.L., Chan, C.K., Sigvardsson, M., Weissman, I.L., and Bryder, D. (2007). Elucidation of the phenotypic, functional, and molecular topography of a myeloerythroid progenitor cell hierarchy. Cell stem cell *1*, 428-442.

Qian, H., Buza-Vidas, N., Hyland, C.D., Jensen, C.T., Antonchuk, J., Mansson, R., Thoren, L.A., Ekblom, M., Alexander, W.S., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2007). Critical role of thrombopoietin in maintaining adult quiescent hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell *1*, 671-684.

Quan, G.M., Ojaimi, J., Li, Y., Kartsogiannis, V., Zhou, H., and Choong, P.F. (2005). Localization of pigment epithelium-derived factor in growing mouse bone. Calcif Tissue Int *76*, 146-153.

Quere, R., Karlsson, G., Hertwig, F., Rissler, M., Lindqvist, B., Fioretos, T., Vandenberghe, P., Slovak, M.L., Cammenga, J., and Karlsson, S. (2011). Smad4 binds Hoxa9 in the cytoplasm and protects primitive hematopoietic cells against nuclear activation by Hoxa9 and leukemia transformation. Blood *117*, 5918-5930.

Ramirez-Castillejo, C., Sanchez-Sanchez, F., Andreu-Agullo, C., Ferron, S.R., Aroca-Aguilar, J.D., Sanchez, P., Mira, H., Escribano, J., and Farinas, I. (2006). Pigment epithelium-derived factor is a niche signal for neural stem cell renewal. Nat Neurosci *9*, 331-339.

Reya, T., Duncan, A.W., Ailles, L., Domen, J., Scherer, D.C., Willert, K., Hintz, L., Nusse, R., and Weissman, I.L. (2003). A role for Wnt signalling in self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *423*, 409-414.

Reya, T., Morrison, S.J., Clarke, M.F., and Weissman, I.L. (2001). Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature *414*, 105-111.

Rhodes, K.E., Gekas, C., Wang, Y., Lux, C.T., Francis, C.S., Chan, D.N., Conway, S., Orkin, S.H., Yoder, M.C., and Mikkola, H.K. (2008). The emergence of hematopoietic stem cells is initiated in the placental vasculature in the absence of circulation. Cell Stem Cell *2*, 252-263.

Riggs, J.W., Barrilleaux, B.L., Varlakhanova, N., Bush, K.M., Chan, V., and Knoepfler, P.S. (2013). Induced pluripotency and oncogenic transformation are related processes. Stem cells and development *22*, 37-50.

Robinton, D.A., and Daley, G.Q. (2012). The promise of induced pluripotent stem cells in research and therapy. Nature *481*, 295-305.

Rongvaux, A., Willinger, T., Takizawa, H., Rathinam, C., Auerbach, W., Murphy, A.J., Valenzuela, D.M., Yancopoulos, G.D., Eynon, E.E., Stevens, S., *et al.* (2011). Human thrombopoietin knockin mice efficiently support human hematopoiesis in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *108*, 2378-2383.

Rubinstein, P., Carrier, C., Scaradavou, A., Kurtzberg, J., Adamson, J., Migliaccio, A.R., Berkowitz, R.L., Cabbad, M., Dobrila, N.L., Taylor, P.E., *et al.* (1998). Outcomes among 562 recipients of placental-blood transplants from unrelated donors. N Engl J Med *339*, 1565-1577.

Sarojini, H., Estrada, R., Lu, H., Dekova, S., Lee, M.J., Gray, R.D., and Wang, E. (2008). PEDF from mouse mesenchymal stem cell secretome attracts fibroblasts. J Cell Biochem *104*, 1793-1802.

Sato, T., Laver, J.H., and Ogawa, M. (1999). Reversible expression of CD34 by murine hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *94*, 2548-2554.

Sauer, B. (1998). Inducible gene targeting in mice using the Cre/lox system. Methods 14, 381-392.

Sauvageau, G., Iscove, N.N., and Humphries, R.K. (2004). In vitro and in vivo expansion of hematopoietic stem cells. Oncogene *23*, 7223-7232.

Sauvageau, G., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Eaves, C.J., Lawrence, H.J., Largman, C., Lansdorp, P.M., and Humphries, R.K. (1995). Overexpression of HOXB4 in hematopoietic cells causes the selective expansion of more primitive populations in vitro and in vivo. Genes Dev *9*, 1753-1765.

Sawant, S., Aparicio, S., Tink, A.R., Lara, N., Barnstable, C.J., and Tombran-Tink, J. (2004). Regulation of factors controlling angiogenesis in liver development: a role for PEDF in the formation and maintenance of normal vasculature. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *325*, 408-413.

Scandura, J.M., Boccuni, P., Massague, J., and Nimer, S.D. (2004). Transforming growth factor beta-induced cell cycle arrest of human hematopoietic cells requires p57KIP2 upregulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 15231-15236.

Schiemann, W.P., Pfeifer, W.M., Levi, E., Kadin, M.E., and Lodish, H.F. (1999). A deletion in the gene for transforming growth factor beta type I receptor abolishes growth regulation by transforming growth factor beta in a cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Blood *94*, 2854-2861.

Schofield, R. (1978). The relationship between the spleen colony-forming cell and the haemopoietic stem cell. Blood cells *4*, 7-25.

Scott, S., Kimura, T., Ichinohasama, R., Bergen, S., Magliocco, A., Reimer, C., Kerviche, A., Sheridan, D., and DeCoteau, J.F. (2003). Microsatellite mutations of transforming growth factor-beta receptor type II and caspase-5 occur in human precursor T-cell lymphoblastic lymphomas/leukemias in vivo but are not associated with hMSH2 or hMLH1 promoter methylation. Leukemia research *27*, 23-34.

Shi, Y., and Massague, J. (2003). Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. Cell *113*, 685-700.

Shultz, L.D., Lyons, B.L., Burzenski, L.M., Gott, B., Chen, X., Chaleff, S., Kotb, M., Gillies, S.D., King, M., Mangada, J., *et al.* (2005). Human lymphoid and myeloid cell development in NOD/LtSz-scid IL2R gamma null mice engrafted with mobilized human hemopoietic stem cells. J Immunol *174*, 6477-6489.

Shultz, L.D., Schweitzer, P.A., Christianson, S.W., Gott, B., Schweitzer, I.B., Tennent, B., McKenna, S., Mobraaten, L., Rajan, T.V., Greiner, D.L., *et al.* (1995). Multiple defects in innate and adaptive immunologic function in NOD/LtSz-scid mice. J Immunol *154*, 180-191.

Si, Y.L., Zhao, Y.L., Hao, H.J., Fu, X.B., and Han, W.D. (2011). MSCs: Biological characteristics, clinical applications and their outstanding concerns. Ageing research reviews *10*, 93-103.

Sieburg, H.B., Cho, R.H., Dykstra, B., Uchida, N., Eaves, C.J., and Muller-Sieburg, C.E. (2006). The hematopoietic stem compartment consists of a limited number of discrete stem cell subsets. Blood *107*, 2311-2316.

Siminovitch, L., McCulloch, E.A., and Till, J.E. (1963). The Distribution of Colony-Forming Cells among Spleen Colonies. J Cell Physiol *62*, 327-336.

Simonovic, M., Gettins, P.G., and Volz, K. (2001). Crystal structure of human PEDF, a potent anti-angiogenic and neurite growth-promoting factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 11131-11135.

Singbrant, S., Karlsson, G., Ehinger, M., Olsson, K., Jaako, P., Miharada, K., Stadtfeld, M., Graf, T., and Karlsson, S. (2010). Canonical BMP signaling is dispensable for hematopoietic stem cell function in both adult and fetal liver hematopoiesis, but essential to preserve colon architecture. Blood *115*, 4689-4698.

Singh, K.P., Garrett, R.W., Casado, F.L., and Gasiewicz, T.A. (2011). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-null allele mice have hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells with abnormal characteristics and functions. Stem cells and development *20*, 769-784.

Sitnicka, E., Buza-Vidas, N., Larsson, S., Nygren, J.M., Liuba, K., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2003). Human CD34+ hematopoietic stem cells capable of multilineage engrafting NOD/SCID mice express flt3: distinct flt3 and c-kit expression and response patterns on mouse and candidate human hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *102*, 881-886.

Sitnicka, E., Lin, N., Priestley, G.V., Fox, N., Broudy, V.C., Wolf, N.S., and Kaushansky, K. (1996a). The effect of thrombopoietin on the proliferation and differentiation of murine hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *87*, 4998-5005.

Sitnicka, E., Ruscetti, F.W., Priestley, G.V., Wolf, N.S., and Bartelmez, S.H. (1996b). Transforming growth factor beta 1 directly and reversibly inhibits the initial cell divisions of long-term repopulating hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *88*, 82-88.

Soma, T., Yu, J.M., and Dunbar, C.E. (1996). Maintenance of murine long-term repopulating stem cells in ex vivo culture is affected by modulation of transforming growth factor-beta but not macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha activities. Blood *87*, 4561-4567.

Song, J., Rechkoblit, O., Bestor, T.H., and Patel, D.J. (2011). Structure of DNMT1-DNA complex reveals a role for autoinhibition in maintenance DNA methylation. Science *331*, 1036-1040.

Sorrentino, B.P. (2004). Clinical strategies for expansion of haematopoietic stem cells. Nat Rev Immunol 4, 878-888.

Spangrude, G.J., Heimfeld, S., and Weissman, I.L. (1988). Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Science 241, 58-62.

Spencer, J.A., Ferraro, F., Roussakis, E., Klein, A., Wu, J., Runnels, J.M., Zaher, W., Mortensen, L.J., Alt, C., Turcotte, R., *et al.* (2014). Direct measurement of local oxygen concentration in the bone marrow of live animals. Nature.

Sporn, M.B., and Roberts, A.B. (1988). Peptide growth factors are multifunctional. Nature *332*, 217-219.

Staal, F.J., and Luis, T.C. (2010). Wnt signaling in hematopoiesis: crucial factors for self-renewal, proliferation, and cell fate decisions. J Cell Biochem *109*, 844-849.

Steele, F.R., Chader, G.J., Johnson, L.V., and Tombran-Tink, J. (1993). Pigment epitheliumderived factor: neurotrophic activity and identification as a member of the serine protease inhibitor gene family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *90*, 1526-1530. Stier, S., Cheng, T., Dombkowski, D., Carlesso, N., and Scadden, D.T. (2002). Notch1 activation increases hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal in vivo and favors lymphoid over myeloid lineage outcome. Blood *99*, 2369-2378.

Sugiyama, T., Kohara, H., Noda, M., and Nagasawa, T. (2006). Maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool by CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling in bone marrow stromal cell niches. Immunity *25*, 977-988.

Sutherland, H.J., Lansdorp, P.M., Henkelman, D.H., Eaves, A.C., and Eaves, C.J. (1990). Functional characterization of individual human hematopoietic stem cells cultured at limiting dilution on supportive marrow stromal layers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *87*, 3584-3588.

Szilvassy, S.J., Humphries, R.K., Lansdorp, P.M., Eaves, A.C., and Eaves, C.J. (1990). Quantitative assay for totipotent reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells by a competitive repopulation strategy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *87*, 8736-8740.

Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Narita, M., Ichisaka, T., Tomoda, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2007). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell *131*, 861-872.

Takahashi, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2006). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell *126*, 663-676.

Takenaka, K., Yamagishi, S., Jinnouchi, Y., Nakamura, K., Matsui, T., and Imaizumi, T. (2005). Pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF)-induced apoptosis and inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in MG63 human osteosarcoma cells. Life Sci 77, 3231-3241.

Tang, M., Wei, X., Guo, Y., Breslin, P., Zhang, S., Zhang, S., Wei, W., Xia, Z., Diaz, M., Akira, S., *et al.* (2008). TAK1 is required for the survival of hematopoietic cells and hepatocytes in mice. J Exp Med *205*, 1611-1619.

Taniwaki, T., Hirashima, N., Becerra, S.P., Chader, G.J., Etcheberrigaray, R., and Schwartz, J.P. (1997). Pigment epithelium-derived factor protects cultured cerebellar granule cells against glutamate-induced neurotoxicity. Journal of neurochemistry *68*, 26-32.

ten Dijke, P., Hansen, P., Iwata, K.K., Pieler, C., and Foulkes, J.G. (1988). Identification of another member of the transforming growth factor type beta gene family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *85*, 4715-4719.

Thomas, E.D. (1999). A history of haemopoietic cell transplantation. Br J Haematol 105, 330-339.

Thomas, E.D., Lochte, H.L., Jr., Cannon, J.H., Sahler, O.D., and Ferrebee, J.W. (1959). Supralethal whole body irradiation and isologous marrow transplantation in man. The Journal of clinical investigation *38*, 1709-1716.

Thomas, T., Corcoran, L.M., Gugasyan, R., Dixon, M.P., Brodnicki, T., Nutt, S.L., Metcalf, D., and Voss, A.K. (2006). Monocytic leukemia zinc finger protein is essential for the development of long-term reconstituting hematopoietic stem cells. Genes Dev 20, 1175-1186.

Thorsteinsdottir, U., Sauvageau, G., and Humphries, R.K. (1999). Enhanced in vivo regenerative potential of HOXB4-transduced hematopoietic stem cells with regulation of their pool size. Blood *94*, 2605-2612.

Till, J.E., and McCulloch, E. (1961). A direct measurement of the radiation sensitivity of normal mouse bone marrow cells. Radiat Res *14*, 213-222.

Tkachuk, D.C., Kohler, S., and Cleary, M.L. (1992). Involvement of a homolog of Drosophila trithorax by 11q23 chromosomal translocations in acute leukemias. Cell *71*, 691-700.

To, L.B., Haylock, D.N., Simmons, P.J., and Juttner, C.A. (1997). The biology and clinical uses of blood stem cells. Blood *89*, 2233-2258.

Tombran-Tink, J., Aparicio, S., Xu, X., Tink, A.R., Lara, N., Sawant, S., Barnstable, C.J., and Zhang, S.S. (2005). PEDF and the serpins: phylogeny, sequence conservation, and functional domains. J Struct Biol *151*, 130-150.

Tombran-Tink, J., and Johnson, L.V. (1989). Neuronal differentiation of retinoblastoma cells induced by medium conditioned by human RPE cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci *30*, 1700-1707.

Tombran-Tink, J., Shivaram, S.M., Chader, G.J., Johnson, L.V., and Bok, D. (1995). Expression, secretion, and age-related downregulation of pigment epithelium-derived factor, a serpin with neurotrophic activity. J Neurosci *15*, 4992-5003.

Trowbridge, J.J., Snow, J.W., Kim, J., and Orkin, S.H. (2009). DNA methyltransferase 1 is essential for and uniquely regulates hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Cell Stem Cell *5*, 442-449.

Uehara, H., Miyamoto, M., Kato, K., Ebihara, Y., Kaneko, H., Hashimoto, H., Murakami, Y., Hase, R., Takahashi, R., Mega, S., *et al.* (2004). Expression of pigment epithelium-derived factor decreases liver metastasis and correlates with favorable prognosis for patients with ductal pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res *64*, 3533-3537.

Utsugisawa, T., Moody, J.L., Aspling, M., Nilsson, E., Carlsson, L., and Karlsson, S. (2006). A road map toward defining the role of Smad signaling in hematopoietic stem cells. Stem Cells *24*, 1128-1136.

van Os, R., Kamminga, L.M., Ausema, A., Bystrykh, L.V., Draijer, D.P., van Pelt, K., Dontje, B., and de Haan, G. (2007). A Limited role for p21Cip1/Waf1 in maintaining normal hematopoietic stem cell functioning. Stem Cells *25*, 836-843.

Villanueva, A., Garcia, C., Paules, A.B., Vicente, M., Megias, M., Reyes, G., de Villalonga, P., Agell, N., Lluis, F., Bachs, O., *et al.* (1998). Disruption of the antiproliferative TGF-beta signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancer cells. Oncogene *17*, 1969-1978.

Volpert, O.V., Zaichuk, T., Zhou, W., Reiher, F., Ferguson, T.A., Stuart, P.M., Amin, M., and Bouck, N.P. (2002). Inducer-stimulated Fas targets activated endothelium for destruction by anti-angiogenic thrombospondin-1 and pigment epithelium-derived factor. Nature medicine *8*, 349-357.

Wagers, A.J., Christensen, J.L., and Weissman, I.L. (2002). Cell fate determination from stem cells. Gene therapy *9*, 606-612.

Wagner, J.E., Barker, J.N., DeFor, T.E., Baker, K.S., Blazar, B.R., Eide, C., Goldman, A., Kersey, J., Krivit, W., MacMillan, M.L., *et al.* (2002). Transplantation of unrelated donor umbilical cord blood in 102 patients with malignant and nonmalignant diseases: influence of CD34 cell dose and HLA disparity on treatment-related mortality and survival. Blood *100*, 1611-1618.

Wang, J., Kimura, T., Asada, R., Harada, S., Yokota, S., Kawamoto, Y., Fujimura, Y., Tsuji, T., Ikehara, S., and Sonoda, Y. (2003). SCID-repopulating cell activity of human cord bloodderived CD34- cells assured by intra-bone marrow injection. Blood *101*, 2924-2931.

Wang, L., Menendez, P., Shojaei, F., Li, L., Mazurier, F., Dick, J.E., Cerdan, C., Levac, K., and Bhatia, M. (2005). Generation of hematopoietic repopulating cells from human embryonic stem cells independent of ectopic HOXB4 expression. J Exp Med *201*, 1603-1614.

Watanabe, A., Yamada, Y., and Yamanaka, S. (2013). Epigenetic regulation in pluripotent stem cells: a key to breaking the epigenetic barrier. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological sciences *368*, 20120292.

Willert, K., Brown, J.D., Danenberg, E., Duncan, A.W., Weissman, I.L., Reya, T., Yates, J.R., 3rd, and Nusse, R. (2003). Wnt proteins are lipid-modified and can act as stem cell growth factors. Nature *423*, 448-452.

Willinger, T., Rongvaux, A., Takizawa, H., Yancopoulos, G.D., Valenzuela, D.M., Murphy, A.J., Auerbach, W., Eynon, E.E., Stevens, S., Manz, M.G., *et al.* (2011). Human IL-3/GM-CSF knock-in mice support human alveolar macrophage development and human immune responses in the lung. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *108*, 2390-2395.

Wilson, A., Laurenti, E., Oser, G., van der Wath, R.C., Blanco-Bose, W., Jaworski, M., Offner, S., Dunant, C.F., Eshkind, L., Bockamp, E., *et al.* (2008). Hematopoietic stem cells reversibly switch from dormancy to self-renewal during homeostasis and repair. Cell *135*, 1118-1129.

Wilson, A., Oser, G.M., Jaworski, M., Blanco-Bose, W.E., Laurenti, E., Adolphe, C., Essers, M.A., Macdonald, H.R., and Trumpp, A. (2007). Dormant and self-renewing hematopoietic stem cells and their niches. Ann N Y Acad Sci *1106*, 64-75.

Wilson, A., and Trumpp, A. (2006). Bone-marrow haematopoietic-stem-cell niches. Nat Rev Immunol *6*, 93-106.

Wognum, A., and Szilvassy, S. (2013). Mini-review: Hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. StemCell Technology Version 400 http://wwwstemcellcom.

Wolfraim, L.A., Fernandez, T.M., Mamura, M., Fuller, W.L., Kumar, R., Cole, D.E., Byfield, S., Felici, A., Flanders, K.C., Walz, T.M., *et al.* (2004). Loss of Smad3 in acute T-cell lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med *351*, 552-559.

Woods, N.B., Muessig, A., Schmidt, M., Flygare, J., Olsson, K., Salmon, P., Trono, D., von Kalle, C., and Karlsson, S. (2003). Lentiviral vector transduction of NOD/SCID repopulating cells results in multiple vector integrations per transduced cell: risk of insertional mutagenesis. Blood *101*, 1284-1289.

Wright, D.E., Wagers, A.J., Gulati, A.P., Johnson, F.L., and Weissman, I.L. (2001). Physiological migration of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Science *294*, 1933-1936. Xie, Y., Yin, T., Wiegraebe, W., He, X.C., Miller, D., Stark, D., Perko, K., Alexander, R., Schwartz, J., Grindley, J.C., *et al.* (2009). Detection of functional haematopoietic stem cell niche using real-time imaging. Nature *457*, 97-101.

Yabe, T., Wilson, D., and Schwartz, J.P. (2001). NFkappaB activation is required for the neuroprotective effects of pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) on cerebellar granule neurons. J Biol Chem *276*, 43313-43319.

Yamaguchi, K., Shirakabe, K., Shibuya, H., Irie, K., Oishi, I., Ueno, N., Taniguchi, T., Nishida, E., and Matsumoto, K. (1995). Identification of a member of the MAPKKK family as a potential mediator of TGF-beta signal transduction. Science *270*, 2008-2011.

Yamamoto, R., Morita, Y., Ooehara, J., Hamanaka, S., Onodera, M., Rudolph, K.L., Ema, H., and Nakauchi, H. (2013). Clonal analysis unveils self-renewing lineage-restricted progenitors generated directly from hematopoietic stem cells. Cell *154*, 1112-1126.

Yamanaka, S. (2012). Induced pluripotent stem cells: past, present, and future. Cell Stem Cell *10*, 678-684.

Yamazaki, S., Ema, H., Karlsson, G., Yamaguchi, T., Miyoshi, H., Shioda, S., Taketo, M.M., Karlsson, S., Iwama, A., and Nakauchi, H. (2011). Nonmyelinating schwann cells maintain hematopoietic stem cell hibernation in the bone marrow niche. Cell *147*, 1146-1158.

Yamazaki, S., Iwama, A., Takayanagi, S., Eto, K., Ema, H., and Nakauchi, H. (2009). TGFbeta as a candidate bone marrow niche signal to induce hematopoietic stem cell hibernation. Blood *113*, 1250-1256.

Yamazaki, S., Iwama, A., Takayanagi, S., Morita, Y., Eto, K., Ema, H., and Nakauchi, H. (2006). Cytokine signals modulated via lipid rafts mimic niche signals and induce hibernation in hematopoietic stem cells. The EMBO journal *25*, 3515-3523.

Yang, L., Bryder, D., Adolfsson, J., Nygren, J., Mansson, R., Sigvardsson, M., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2005). Identification of Lin(-)Sca1(+)kit(+)CD34(+)Flt3- short-term hematopoietic stem cells capable of rapidly reconstituting and rescuing myeloablated transplant recipients. Blood *105*, 2717-2723.

Yang, L., Wang, N., Tang, Y., Cao, X., and Wan, M. (2006). Acute myelogenous leukemiaderived SMAD4 mutations target the protein to ubiquitin-proteasome degradation. Human mutation *27*, 897-905.

Yasui, N., Mori, T., Morito, D., Matsushita, O., Kourai, H., Nagata, K., and Koide, T. (2003). Dual-site recognition of different extracellular matrix components by antiangiogenic/neurotrophic serpin, PEDF. Biochemistry *42*, 3160-3167.

Yaswen, L., Kulkarni, A.B., Fredrickson, T., Mittleman, B., Schiffman, R., Payne, S., Longenecker, G., Mozes, E., and Karlsson, S. (1996). Autoimmune manifestations in the transforming growth factor-beta 1 knockout mouse. Blood *87*, 1439-1445.

Yoshihara, H., Arai, F., Hosokawa, K., Hagiwara, T., Takubo, K., Nakamura, Y., Gomei, Y., Iwasaki, H., Matsuoka, S., Miyamoto, K., *et al.* (2007). Thrombopoietin/MPL signaling regulates hematopoietic stem cell quiescence and interaction with the osteoblastic niche. Cell Stem Cell *1*, 685-697.

Yu, B.D., Hess, J.L., Horning, S.E., Brown, G.A., and Korsmeyer, S.J. (1995). Altered Hox expression and segmental identity in Mll-mutant mice. Nature *378*, 505-508.

Zeng, H., Yucel, R., Kosan, C., Klein-Hitpass, L., and Moroy, T. (2004). Transcription factor Gfi1 regulates self-renewal and engraftment of hematopoietic stem cells. The EMBO journal 23, 4116-4125.

Zhang, C.C., Kaba, M., Iizuka, S., Huynh, H., and Lodish, H.F. (2008). Angiopoietin-like 5 and IGFBP2 stimulate ex vivo expansion of human cord blood hematopoietic stem cells as assayed by NOD/SCID transplantation. Blood *111*, 3415-3423.

Zhang, J., Niu, C., Ye, L., Huang, H., He, X., Tong, W.G., Ross, J., Haug, J., Johnson, T., Feng, J.Q., *et al.* (2003). Identification of the haematopoietic stem cell niche and control of the niche size. Nature *425*, 836-841.

Zhang, S.X., Wang, J.J., Gao, G., Shao, C., Mott, R., and Ma, J.X. (2006). Pigment epitheliumderived factor (PEDF) is an endogenous antiinflammatory factor. Faseb J 20, 323-325.

Zhang, T., Guan, M., Xu, C., Chen, Y., and Lu, Y. (2007). Pigment epithelium-derived factor inhibits glioma cell growth in vitro and in vivo. Life Sci *81*, 1256-1263.

Zhang, Y., Harada, A., Bluethmann, H., Wang, J.B., Nakao, S., Mukaida, N., and Matsushima, K. (1995). Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) is a physiologic regulator of hematopoietic progenitor cells: increase of early hematopoietic progenitor cells in TNF receptor p55-deficient mice in vivo and potent inhibition of progenitor cell proliferation by TNF alpha in vitro. Blood *86*, 2930-2937.

Zhu, D., Deng, X., Spee, C., Sonoda, S., Hsieh, C.L., Barron, E., Pera, M., and Hinton, D.R. (2011). Polarized secretion of PEDF from human embryonic stem cell-derived RPE promotes retinal progenitor cell survival. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci *52*, 1573-1585.

Zou, P., Yoshihara, H., Hosokawa, K., Tai, I., Shinmyozu, K., Tsukahara, F., Maru, Y., Nakayama, K., Nakayama, K.I., and Suda, T. (2011). p57(Kip2) and p27(Kip1) cooperate to maintain hematopoietic stem cell quiescence through interactions with Hsc70. Cell Stem Cell *9*, 247-261.

## APPENDICES (ARTICLES I-III)